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About FirstService

FirstService is a global diversifi ed leader in the rapidly growing real estate 
services sector, providing services in commercial real estate, residential property 
management and property services. 

Industry-leading service platforms include: Colliers International, the third 
largest global player in commercial real estate; FirstService Residential 
Management, the largest manager of residential communities in North America; 
and TFC, North America’s largest provider of property services through franchise 
and contractor networks.

FirstService generates over U.S.$1.7 billion in annualized revenues with more 
than 18,000 employees worldwide. 
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(US$ thousands, except per share amounts)
 Year ended December 31 Year ended March 31

    2009  2008 2008  2007  2006

Operations 
Revenues $ 1,703,222 $ 1,691,811 $ 1,549,713 $ 1,152,821 $ 918,668
Operating earnings  38,181  71,327  78,122  77,005  61,087
Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations  (7,279)  19,837  52,277  50,245  38,535
Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations  (576)  45,297  (2,829)  2,290  42,843
Net (loss) earnings  (7,855)  65,134  49,448  51,181  81,378

Financial Position
Total assets $ 1,009,530 $ 990,637 $ 1,089,343 $ 816,998 $ 711,004
Long-term debt  235,994  266,369  356,030  235,149  248,686
Convertible debentures  77,000  –  –  –  –
Shareholders’ equity  166,034  199,141  131,553  159,181  187,215

Common Share Data
Diluted net (loss) earnings per common share 
 from continuing operations $  (1.85) $ (0.19) $ 0.89 $ 1.08 $ 0.83
Diluted weighted average outstanding (thousands)  29,516  29,914  30,547  30,354  30,896
Cash dividends per common share  –  –  –  –  –

Preferred Share Data
Number outstanding (thousands)  5,772  5,772  5,979  –  –
Cash dividends per preferred share $ 1.75 $ 1.75 $ 1.16  –  –

Other Data
EBITDA(1) $ 133,067 $ 124,745 $ 123,614 $ 107,983 $ 84,319
Adjusted diluted net earnings 
 per share from continuing operations(2)  1.42  1.37  1.32  1.17  0.75

Notes
1.  EBITDA is defi ned as net earnings from continuing operations before non-controlling interest share of earnings, income tax, interest, depreciation, amortization, cost containment expense and stock-based 

compensation expense.
2.  Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations is defi ned as diluted net earnings per share from continuing operations plus the effect, after income taxes, of: (i) the non-controlling interest 

redemption increment recognized in connection with the accounting standards on NCI; (ii) amortization expense related to intangible assets recognized in connection with acquisitions; (iii) goodwill 
impairment charges; (iv) stock-based compensation expense; (v) cost containment expense; (vi) gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and (vii) deferred income tax valuation allowances related 
to tax loss carry-forwards.

Revenues (US$ millions) Adjusted Diluted EPS (US$)EBITDA (US$ millions)
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1. Results for fi scal years ended March 31
2. Results for calendar years ended December 31
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1989  1990  1991  1992  1993  1994  1995  1996  1997  1998

 $42MMREVENUES  $88MM

1995 Business Process 
Outsourcing
Acquires BDP Business Data Services, 
a leading business process outsourcing 
company, which forms the basis 
of Business Services platform. 
Subsequently adds DDS Distribution 
Services (1996) and The Watts Group 
(2001). Platform later re-branded as 
Resolve Corporation.

1989 Founding
Founder and CEO, Jay Hennick 
establishes FirstService with Superior 
Pools, the commercial swimming pool 
management business he started 
as a teenager. In 1999, FirstService 
acquires American Pool Enterprises, 
the largest commercial swimming pool 
and recreation facility management 
organization in North America and 
integrates operations of Superior.

1993 Initial Public Offering
IPO in June on TSX raising $10 million. 
Subsequently lists on NASDAQ (1995).

1993 Integrated Security
Acquires Intercon Security, the Canadian 
market leader in electronic security 
systems and security offi cer staffi ng 
for high-end commercial properties. 
Intercon forms basis of Integrated 
Security segment. Later acquisition 
of Philadelphia-based Security 
Services & Technologies (2000) 
drives U.S. market growth.

1997 U.S. Public Offering
FirstService raises $20 million in fi rst 
offering of shares in the U.S., expanding 
shareholder base and further solidifying 
capital base.

1989 Property Services
Acquires College Pro Painters, a leading 
franchisor in exterior residential 
painting market, forming foundation 
for the Property Services segment. 
FirstService then acquires Chemlawn 
Canada (1991), the Canadian leader 
in residential lawn care which it later 
sells to ServiceMaster (2004) generating 
a 24% annualized after-tax return 
on invested capital over 13 years. 
Subsequent acquisitions include:

- Paul Davis Restoration (1997)

- California Closets (1998) 

- Pillar-to-Post Home Inspection (2003) 

- Handyman Connection (2006)

1996 FirstService Residential
Acquires Prime Management, Florida-
based market leader in full-service property 
management, forming foundation of 
Residential Property Management platform. 
Later acquisitions build a national footprint:

- The Continental Group (1997)

- The Wentworth Group (1997)

- Rossmar & Graham (1998) 

- Cooper Square Realty (2003)

- RMI Management (2004)

- The Merit Companies (2007)

- Planned Companies (2008)

Our successful track record of delivering 
signifi cant growth in shareholder value, more 
than 18% annual return since 1995, is all about 
creating value, one step at a time.

FirstService Growth Timeline
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1999  2000  2001  2002  2003  2004  2005  2006  2007  2008  2009

 $263MM

 $441MM

$919MM

$1.7B
2008 Integrated 
Security Divestiture
FirstService divests of its Integrated 
Security segment generating a 22% 
annualized after-tax return on invested 
capital over 15 years.

2009 FirstService 
takes control of 
Colliers International
Accomplishes a major milestone by 
gaining control of the privately held 
Colliers International brand. FirstService 
now has 228 company-owned offi ces 
in 41 countries and partners in another 
20 countries.

2006 Resolve Divestiture
FirstService divests of Resolve Corporation 
through IPO of trust units of Resolve 
Business Outsourcing Income Fund 
generating an 18% annualized after-tax 
return on invested capital over 11 years. 

2007 Field Asset Services
The Property Services segment 
acquires Field Asset Services, a leading 
national property preservation and REO 
maintenance firm, with a network of more 
than 15,000 independent contractors.

2004 Commercial 
Real Estate
Establishes Commercial Real Estate 
services segment with acquisition 
of Colliers Macaulay Nicolls, the 
largest member of privately held 
Colliers International. Then adds 
important new markets in the U.S. 
and internationally including:

- Colliers Seeley, Los Angeles (2005)

-  Colliers Meredith & Grew, Boston (2006) 

-  GVA Williams, New York (2008)

-  Colliers, Brazil (2006)

-  Colliers, Southeast Europe (2007)

-  Colliers, Russia (2007)

-  Colliers, Netherlands (2008) 

-  Colliers CRE, London (2009) 29.9% 
interest of publically traded shares

It also diversifi es revenue streams with:

-  PGP Property Valuations (2006) 

-  PKF Consulting & PKF 
Hospitality Research (2007) 

-  MHPM Project Managers (2007)
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Founder & CEO’s Message

managers, FirstService oversees more than 1.5 billion square feet 
of property. Our potential to do the right thing for our planet is 
signifi cant, so we are launching a new sustainability strategy that 
will unfold over the next year. We describe our commitment to 
sustainable operations more fully on page 9.

In 2009, we also took an important step to further strengthen our financial 
position through a new convertible debenture offering. The proceeds 
were used to repay outstanding debt providing us with more than 
$200 million of fi repower to continue to grow and add value for our 
shareholders as opportunities present themselves.

We approach the year ahead confident that we are well positioned to benefit 
from the coming recovery in real estate services and that emerging 
demand for our services will continue to fuel the largest market segment 
in the world.

Unfortunately my father, Sam Hennick, passed away on February 19, 2010. 
Sam will be greatly missed by his family but he will also be missed by 
everyone at FirstService. Not only was Sam a founding member of our 
board and served as a director for more than 13 years, he was also there 
at the very beginning and he remained active and involved to his last 
day. Sam was immensely proud of FirstService and its success was a 
testament to his involvement. I will be forever indebted to my father
for everything – I miss him already!

Jay S. Hennick 
Founder & Chief Executive Offi cer

“ The highlight of our year was 
gaining majority control of privately 
held Colliers International.” 

Jay S. Hennick FOUNDER & CEO

FS09

FirstService delivered solid results in 2009 on the strength 
of our highly resilient residential property management 
business, a strong performance from our property services 
division and a better than expected fi nish in commercial 
real estate. We also took decisive steps to further establish 
our position as one of the world leaders in global real 
estate services. 

The highlight of our year was gaining majority control of 
privately held Colliers International. With 228 company-
owned offi ces in 41 countries and partners in 20 more, 
controlling Colliers International makes FirstService the 
world’s third largest player in commercial real estate 
and creates a unique opportunity to expand our services 
internationally. The full story of our Colliers strategy 
is covered on the next page of this report: “Colliers 
International Drives Global Growth.”

As a leader in our industry, FirstService has a responsibility 
to be the forerunner in sustainable business practices. 
Globally, commercial and residential buildings account 
for more than 30% of global carbon dioxide emissions 
from fossil fuels. As one of the world’s largest property 
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Economic Downturn 
Accelerates 
Achievement 
of Strategic Goal 
Since its inception, FirstService has pursued a disciplined 
approach to growth with a view to creating long-term value 
for our shareholders … one step at a time!

 In 2004, FirstService entered the commercial real estate 
services segment through the acquisition of Colliers Macaulay 
Nicolls (“CMN”), the largest shareholder of privately held Colliers 
International Property Consultants (“Colliers International”). 
The deal was one step unlike any other in our history and opened 
exceptional new opportunities for growth.

Our plan was to use CMN as a platform to build a signifi cant 
commercial real estate business over the long-term and 
ultimately, to gain control of the global Colliers International 
brand. We were determined to remain true to our disciplined 
approach, while demonstrating the FirstService advantage. 
This combination worked very well for us, and in 2009 we 
achieved our strategic goal of gaining control of Colliers 
International, well ahead of schedule.

From the outset CMN was the role model for the larger Colliers 
organization. CMN invested heavily in operations, technology, 
and professional development. Our involvement with 
CMN strengthened the business in many ways including 
fi nancially and operationally. We also introduced our 
successful partnership model to the industry. If senior 
leaders retain direct equity in the businesses they operate 
day to day, they will ensure clients receive the highest level 
of service and consistent delivery over the long-term.

As FirstService-owned operations began to outperform 
the others, we were able to acquire additional operations 
in large and vital U.S. markets such as Los Angeles 
(Colliers Seeley 2005) and Boston (Colliers Meredith 
& Grew 2006). Outside the U.S., other shareholders of 
Colliers International in key markets, like Brazil, Central 
and Eastern Europe, Russia and the Netherlands, also 
chose to partner with FirstService by selling a majority 
of their equity. Each of these acquisitions added another 
Colliers branded business, and each also increased our 
stake in Colliers International.

At the same time, FirstService took steps to diversify its revenue 
streams and broaden its service offerings by adding Denver-
based PGP Property Valuation (2006), San Francisco-based PKF 
Consulting and PKF Hospitality Research (2007) and Canadian-
based MHPM Project Managers (2007).

FirstService funded this impressive growth by intensifying 
its focus on global real estate services and redeploying 
capital. The divestiture of our Business Services (2006) and 
Integrated Security divisions (2008) provided orderly exit 
strategies from both businesses and rewarded shareholders 
for their capital contributions to the development of both. 

These decisions, together with the strong cash flow generated 
from the residential property management and property 
service divisions put FirstService in an excellent position 
to capitalize when the time was right. That time arrived 
with the onset of the global recession in 2008.

The economic downturn created an exceptional opportunity 
for FirstService as coveted acquisition targets, unavailable 
in a strong market, began to seek partners to weather the 
fi nancial storm. FirstService acted decisively in New York 
with the acquisition of GVA Williams (2008) and in London 
with a signifi cant investment in Colliers CRE (2009). Both 
of these investments established global gateways to two 
of the world’s most important real estate markets. 

By the close of 2009, FirstService had accomplished its goal 
by taking control of Colliers International. With 228 
company-owned offi ces in 41 countries and partners 
in another 20, Colliers International opens more doors, 
in more places, for clients around the globe.

Over the past fi ve years FirstService has dedicated itself 
to liberating the full potential of this enterprise — building 
the world’s third largest commercial real estate services 
fi rm and in the process, creating signifi cant value for our 
shareholders today and for many years to come.

Colliers International Drives Global Growth
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“ Our global diversifi cation has served us well during these challenging 
times, and most importantly, positions us well for the opportunities 
that lay ahead.”

D. Scott Patterson John B. Friedrichsen
PRESIDENT & COO SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT & CFOQ&A
2009 presented a tough operating environment for global companies, how 
did FirstService measure up to the challenge?

We are pleased with the annual performance of our three real estate services 
divisions. Each one faced its own unique challenge and each one successfully 
navigated a diffi cult economy to build long-term value for our shareholders. 
Overall we reported revenues of $1.7 billion, EBITDA of $133 million and 
adjusted earnings per share of $1.42. This compares very well with our peer 
group of companies, with each of these key annual performance metrics 
showing an increase over the 12 months ended December 31, 2008.

What was the story in your three operating divisions?

Our Residential Property Management division provided another solid year 
of operating results with revenues up 5% and EBITDA margins increasing 
to 9.4% from 8.8% in the previous year. Despite a challenging economy, the 
resiliency of this business based on the essential services we provide, along 
with our leading service model and focus on assisting our clients where their 
needs are greatest, was clearly evident.

Property Services delivered very strong results once again with revenues up 
32% led by our market-leading Field Asset Services (“FAS”). FAS performed 
exceptionally well during another period of increasing residential mortgage 
foreclosures in the United States, assisting its clients in maintaining the 
value of their real estate collateral. This performance helped offset softness 
in several of our consumer-oriented franchises, while we successfully 
stabilized this latter group, working closely with management teams and our 
franchisees to align their cost structures to the realities of reduced revenues.

Management’s Q & A: Year in Review
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Commercial Real Estate was our most challenging service division 
operationally in 2009, given the adverse impact of tight credit 
and fi nancial markets and deteriorating employment across the 
globe that drove many occupiers of real estate to reduce and 
consolidate their space requirements. Overall revenue declined 
16%, but an intense focus on cost containment initiatives started 
in the latter half of 2008 and carrying through 2009, reduced the 
negative impact on our profi tability, and contributed to an increase 
in EBITDA in our fourth quarter enabling us to fi nish a tough 2009 
on a positive note. 

Much of the concern over the global economy remains focused 
on the U.S., how is this affecting FirstService?

Five years ago it would have been a critical threat given the 
concentration of our service platforms at that time, but the 
realignment of our business around real estate services has 
diversifi ed the risk on a global basis. In 2009, 74% of our revenue 
was generated in the U.S., 11% in Canada, 11% in Asia Pacifi c, 
3% in Europe, and 1% in Latin America. While the current 
recession has impacted the global economy more broadly than 
any downturn in our lifetime, our global diversifi cation has served 
us well during these challenging times, and most importantly, 
positions us well for the opportunities that lay ahead.

Commercial Real Estate has been especially hard hit during the 
recession, what has been your response?

Together with our executive management team that leads our 
Colliers International business, we made tough decisions around 
cost containment that had unpleasant near-term consequences. 
However, we believe we have done a good job in balancing an 
effective response to declining revenues while ensuring that we 
kept our eyes on the horizon, taking steps to build value and take 
advantage of the opportunities that surfaced as markets came 
under pressure. 

What have been the biggest accomplishments in Commercial 
Real Estate in 2009?

We accomplished two signifi cant strategic initiatives in 2009, one 
impacting our global operations and the other more specifi cally 
our operations in the U.S.

As highlighted in our CEO’s Message to shareholders, and detailed
in a dedicated section of our annual report, we successfully 
secured control over the Colliers International brand. From the
time of our initial investment in Colliers Macaulay Nicolls (“CMN”)
in 2004, CMN had signifi cant infl uence over the Colliers 
International brand, but not the control needed to deliver the 
type of consistency and high level of service required as part 
of our vision for the 3rd largest commercial real estate 
business globally. This move will yield benefi ts to our business 
that will become increasingly apparent over time.

Management’s Q & A: Year in Review

We also realigned our U.S. operations to address several gaps that 
contributed to subpar operating results made worse by the downturn 
in the U.S. economy in late 2007. So in the fourth quarter of 2008, 
we took a major step by acquiring a majority stake in GVA Williams, 
one of New York City’s most established commercial real estate 
operations. The downturn actually helped us achieve our goal 
of partnering with a major New York fi rm. Then in 2009, we 
refocused our efforts on providing a comprehensive approach to 
servicing the real estate needs of our corporate clients by establishing 
a Corporate Solutions and advisory practice and bringing on board 
new leadership, led by Dylan Taylor. We also entered important U.S. 
regional markets in Atlanta, Washington D.C. and Richmond, Virginia 
to further enhance our operations and client service delivery.

You have also moved aggressively to open new markets in 
Western Europe.

The acquisition of a 29.9% stake in Colliers CRE, headquartered 
in London, provides a presence in the U.K., Ireland and Spain, 
further expanding our global footprint into these established 
markets. We believe that we will be able to add signifi cant 
value to this operation in Europe, while enhancing our existing 
working relationship through our other major global markets, 
particularly in our North America and Asia-Pacifi c regions. 

Did you foresee how the 2004 acquisition of CMN would lead to 
such a comprehensive realignment of FirstService? 

Though it happened faster than we anticipated, our core belief 
has always been to seize competitive advantage as a global 
leader in real estate services. Two factors are driving us globally: 
1) client requirements to provide services in multiple markets; 
and 2) continuing consolidation in established markets, along 
with inherent growth in emerging markets. The opportunities 
internationally are not just in commercial real estate, but also 
in our other service divisions which are currently focused on 
North America. While our identity has clearly changed in the 
marketplace, our core principles and operating philosophy 
remain constant.

With 2010 looking like a year of modest recovery in most 
markets, will you be gearing up your acquisition activity 
or remain internally focused?

We have a strong balance sheet and ample capital available 
to fund a higher level of investment in acquisitions. However, 
we will continue to be very disciplined in allocating our capital, 
remaining true to our “one step at a time” approach to creating 
value for our shareholders. We are prepared to act when the right 
opportunities are presented, but also are confi dent we can 
capitalize on the solid organic growth areas within our existing 
service divisions.
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Management’s Q & A: Year in Review

Your Property Services division has been an interesting refl ection 
on changes over the past three years in the U.S. economy, and in 
particular the housing market and consumer spending. What do 
you see in 2010 and beyond?

In September 2007, we completed the acquisition of a majority 
interest in Field Assets Services (“FAS”) before the downturn 
in the housing market. While we would like to claim we had 
a crystal ball, the reality is that we acquired FAS more for 
its unique business model, servicing clients on a national 
basis through an extensive network of contractors and a 
sophisticated IT system and process, than riding the wave 
of foreclosures that really was in its infancy at the time. The 
incredible growth in foreclosure services has provided some 
signifi cant diversifi cation to our Property Services division 
and to FirstService, offsetting the slowdown in our consumer 
facing franchises in this division, as well as the downturn in 
commercial real estate. We see signifi cant activity ahead for 
FAS as the U.S. residential mortgage crisis continues to play 
out, while our consumer sensitive franchise systems benefi t 
from a modest recovery in spending by U.S. consumers.

Are you seeing a return of consumer confi dence in this sector?

We believe the change in consumer behaviour over the last 
couple of years will be with us for some time to come. It’s no 
secret that consumers in the U.S. are focused on reducing debt, 
increasing their saving rates, and focusing their spending on 
essentials. FirstService is well positioned to provide services 
that are essential, and that may have been deferred in recent 
times. From an operational perspective, being franchisors and 
operators of a contract network has allowed us a lot of fl exibility 
and leverage around costs. Our management teams have stayed 
close to their businesses, shrewdly making necessary cost-cutting 
decisions, all the while remaining focused on our clients. 

Residential Property Management has been a quiet over-performer 
during a tough economy, what is driving their consistent success?

Exceptional management, a client service culture and strong 
entrepreneurial instincts have made them operational and 
strategic leaders in all their markets. We believe this is a 
business that excels by listening to our clients’ needs and 
servicing them fi rst, while always looking for ways to improve 
operations and setting us apart from our smaller competitors. 
Our community association clients notice, and respond positively.

What issues inspire you to make corporate social responsibility 
a bigger priority?

FirstService has a unique opportunity to contribute to a better 
future for our environment and the society in which we do 
business. We are one of the world’s foremost third-party 
managers of both commercial and residential real estate and 
that brings with it an obligation, as well as an opportunity, to 
lead our clients in conservation and best practices in operating 
their properties. In response, we have initiated a sustainability 
program throughout our network and you can expect to hear 
much more from us on this issue in the coming years.

You also added strength to your fi nancial position in 2009, was 
this necessary?

The turbulent markets of the past two years have taught us that 
having ample liquidity and a strong capital base is an advantage, 
particularly when uncertainty makes capital scarce. Though 
we were not compelled in any way to raise capital last year, we 
looked ahead and took advantage of an improvement in capital 
markets by completing a $77 million public offering of unsecured 
subordinated convertible debentures, with a fi xed interest rate 
of 6.50% and a conversion premium of 40% at the time of issue. 
We used the proceeds to pay down debt on our $225 million 
revolving credit facility, and going into 2010 have over $200 million 
available to fund our future growth. We are ready to move when 
the opportunity is right.

What are your expectations for 2010?

In Commercial Real Estate, we expect a modest recovery in 2010, 
with prospects improving more as we enter the latter half of 
the year. We will continue to strike a balance between closely 
monitoring costs while aggressively strengthening our global 
platform as opportunities arise. 

For 2010 in Property Services, we expect that FAS will once again
be a major contributor to our revenue and profi tability, with 
continued growth. Meanwhile, we expect our franchise and 
branchise operations to benefi t from measures taken in 2009 
to reduce costs and streamline operations, positioning them 
for a modest improvement in revenues and profi tability as U.S. 
consumers slowly increase their spending. 

In Residential Property Management, we expect continued 
growth in our accounts under management based on market 
share gains, as well as modest growth in ancillary services to 
assist our clients in providing a well functioning residential 
community for their residents. Though price increases will 
remain challenging, we believe that we can maintain and 
possibly improve margins, based on additional operating 
leverage achieved through continued growth.
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Residential and commercial buildings account for 31% of global CO2 emissions 
from fossil fuels. FirstService collectively manages 1.5 billion square feet of 
commercial and residential space across the globe. Due to the size of our 
operations, our potential to do the right thing for the planet is unmatched 
in our industry. 

FirstService has embarked on a new sustainability strategy and renewed 
commitment to engage and assist our clients in signifi cantly reducing energy 
consumption, and in the process creating substantial energy savings. 

Keeping Our Commitment 
- Launched FirstService Energy. 

- First Global Partner with the World Green Building Council.

-  FirstService currently has more than 200 LEED (Leadership in Energy 
and Environmental Design) accredited professionals, with an additional 
100 currently seeking accreditation.

-  Certifi ed ISO 14001 in the UK, the leading international environmental 
standard, for our premises management practices. 

-  Developing comprehensive conservation policies and strategies 
for our portfolio of commercial and residential buildings. 

-  Developing consistent recycling and green cleaning policies across 
our entire portfolio of commercial and residential buildings.

FirstService Energy 
Launched in 2009, FS Energy is our innovative approach to creating an energy master plan for our portfolio of 350 multifamily properties in the 
New York and Tri-State market. FS Energy is a new, value-added service offering that takes a holistic view of energy management within our 
portfolio of properties. Using energy consumption data and different building topologies across our managed portfolio, FS Energy created an 
energy benchmark, or Energy Use Index (“EUI”), for multifamily properties. Unique in the market, the EUI enables us to compare and benchmark 
an individual property against a portfolio of similar properties – regardless of fuel source, differentiating amenities, age and size. This tool is a 
value-added service for our clients; it assists us in both educating them and advocating energy effi ciency investments.

The creation of this benchmark measurement launched FS Energy towards our 3-year goal of 25% reduction in energy consumption across 
a portfolio of 70,000 residential units. 

More than 100 buildings to date are engaged in a variety of programs including: preventative maintenance and training programs, demand 
management strategies, procurement strategies, energy assessments, and retrofi ts with demonstrated returns on investment. Each of these 
elements offer energy cost savings for our clients and reduces the environmental footprint of properties we manage.

Sustainability

We are pleased with our progress. Since launching this past year, FS Energy has 
provided our clients a combined $4 million savings – a solid start to achieving 
our goal of 25% reduction of energy consumption in our clients’ properties.
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Commercial Real Estate

FirstService operates the third largest global commercial real estate 
services company under the Colliers International brand. Through 
a shared culture of service excellence and commitment, we have 
integrated the resources of real estate specialists worldwide to 
accelerate our clients’ achievement of success. Our unique partnership 
model helps us attract the best and brightest in the industry – those 
who are entrepreneurial and client-centered by nature, and who seek 
opportunities that match their industry aspirations.

Revenue $725M (not including revenues from affi liate partners) 

Recognized Global Leader with Global Coverage
- 3rd largest global player

- Over $52 billion in transaction value

- 228 company-owned offi ces in 41 countries

- Partner offi ces in 20 other countries

- 15,000 employees

-  Market leader in North America, Latin America, Asia Pacifi c,
and Central and Eastern Europe

- Strength in emerging markets including BRIC countries 

Corporate Solutions and Institutional Asset Management
- More than 1 billion square feet under management 

- Specialized advisors for Fortune 500 multinational companies 

Colliers University
- Over 1,000 classes delivered through multiple media

- LEED preparation and certifi cation courses in all countries

“ Our successful partnership model enables key executives to retain 
signifi cant equity in the businesses they operate, creating alignment 
and accountability, and ensuring clients receive the highest level of 
service and consistent delivery over the long term.”

Doug Frye CEO
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Albania
Argentina
Australia 
Austria
Belarus
Belgium
Brazil
Bulgaria
Canada

Chile 
China
Colombia
Costa Rica
Croatia
Czech Republic
Denmark
Estonia
Finland

France
Germany
Greece
Hong Kong
Hungary
India
Indonesia
Ireland
Israel

Italy
Japan
Latvia
Lithuania
Mexico
Montenegro
Netherlands
New Zealand
Norway

Pakistan
Peru
Philippines
Poland
Portugal
Qatar
Romania
Russia
Saudi Arabia

Serbia
Singapore
Slovakia
South Africa
South Korea
Spain 
Sweden
Switzerland
Taiwan

Thailand
Turkey
UAE
Ukraine
United Kingdom
USA
Vietnam

Colliers International provides 
a full range of services to real 
estate users, owners, 
developers and investors 
worldwide. Our services 
include sales and lease 
brokerage, investment sales, 
appraisal and valuations, 
institutional asset and 
property management, 
corporate solutions, hotel 
and hospitality consulting, 
and project management.
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Residential Property Management

FirstService Residential is the largest manager of residential communities 
in North America, overseeing more than 4,000 properties and over one million 
residential units from 50 offi ces across 18 U.S. States. Properties managed 
include low, mid and high-rise condominiums, co-operatives and rental 
communities; large scale master-planned and active adult communities; 
and hospitality and other mixed-use properties. This division also includes 
the operations of American Pool Enterprises, North America’s largest 
commercial swimming pool and recreational facility management operation.

Revenue $645M

Industry Dynamics
-  +60 million Americans live in +24 million residential units 

in +300,000 community associations

-  Estimated value of all residential units in all community 
associations in America is +$5 trillion (about 20% of overall 
value of residential properties)

-  As largest industry player, with +1 million residential units, 
FirstService Residential has less than 5% market share 

FirstService is largest industry player
- 50 offi ces, 18 states

- + 4,000 properties 

- + 1 million units managed

- +$5 billion annual spend administered to maintain client properties 

- Approximately 85% of revenues are contractual

- Long-term contracts with + 90% retention rates

“As the largest player in the industry, we are continuously investing in innovation 
to add value to our clients. Our recent investment in sustainability, particularly 
in fi nding new ways to incorporate energy management into our core service 
offering, will be a signifi cant differentiator in the years to come.” 

Gene Gomberg CEO



13Creating value one step at a time

Dallas, TX  
Dania Beach, FL
Destin, FL  
Fairfax, VA  
Folsom, CA  
Fort Worth, TX  
Hackensack, NJ  
Hollywood, FL  

Jupiter, FL  
Las Vegas, NV  
Lawrenceville, NJ 
Leesburg, VA  
Mesa, AZ  
Miami, FL  
Murietta, CA  

Alexandria, VA  
Aliso Viejo, CA  
Bakersfi eld, CA
Baltimore, MD  
Barrington, NJ  
Boca Raton, FL  
Brooklyn, NY  
Chicago, IL 

New York, NY  
Orlando, FL  
Palm Desert, CA 
Pembroke Pines, FL
Peoria, AZ  
San Diego, CA 
San Ramon, CA  

Scottsdale, AZ  
St. Petersburg, FL  
Staten Island, NY  
Stockton, CA
Suffern, NY  
Tucson, AZ 
Valencia, CA  

Valley Forge, PA  
Vero Beach, FL
Wellington, FL  
West Long Branch, NJ  
West Palm Beach, FL  
Wilmington, DE  
Winter Park, FL

We oversee expenditures of more than $5 billion 
annually to administer the day-to-day operations 
and maintenance of client properties. Services 
include traditional property management, on-site 
staffi ng, rental management and leasing, energy 
management consulting and a variety of specialty 
services and fi nancial products.



FirstService Annual Report 200914

Property Services

Over the years, we have developed an innovative, high performance business 
model that leverages decentralized platform company leadership with 
centralized business planning, skills development and best practices 
sharing. Key competencies include continuous innovation in property service 
franchising and third-party service contracting; attracting, retaining and 
motivating business leaders at all levels; and customer focused strategic 
planning and execution that increases customer level sales and enhances 
existing service brands. The company facilitates high performing stakeholders 
to add additional services, transfer from one business opportunity to another 
or increase the size and breadth of their existing business.

Revenue $435M

Franchise Systems
-  1,800 franchisees

-  +350,000 properties served

-  $110 million in royalty and other revenues

-  $900 million system-wide, customer level sales 

-  Market leading service brands

Contractor Networks
- 15,000 vendor contractors

- +200,000 properties served

- $325 million corporate revenues

-  Clients include some of America’s largest and best-known 
residential mortgage lenders and mortgage service companies

+ 80% revenue from long-term contracts

“ Through FirstService subsidiary TFC, we are the largest provider of property 
services through franchise and contractor networks in North America.”

Steven S. Rogers CEO
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Stakeholders, whether franchisees, third party contractors 
or management partners, own direct equity in the franchises 
or service lines they operate day-to-day, thereby ensuring 
a high level of alignment and customer satisfaction.
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In Memoriam

Sam Hennick
1931 – 2010

Father – Director – Mentor – Humanitarian
It is with deep sadness that we note the passing of 
Sam Hennick, father of Founder and CEO Jay Hennick. 
In addition to being a devoted father and mentor to 
Jay, Sam played a crucial role in founding and building 
FirstService. He served as a Director of the Company from 
its founding until 2003, and continued on as a special 
advisor until his fi nal days. 

The values and principles on which Sam based his life were 
the foundation of our business principles at FirstService. 
Deliver what you promise, respect the individual, have pride in 
what you do, and be open-minded to possibilities; these were 
all Sam’s values. And while Sam taught us the value 
of seeking out the best advisors and professionals, he also 
encouraged us to forge our own path, and make decisions 
based on the strength of our own judgement and experience. 
Without him, we would not be where we are today.

Sam will also be remembered as a loving father to his four 
children and a devoted grandfather to 13 grandchildren 
and one great-grandchild. His generosity and humanitarian 
infl uence extended throughout our community. He will be 
missed by everyone his life touched.
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Business Ethics
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Corporate Information

Corporate Offi ces
Head Offi ce, Canada
1140 Bay Street, Suite 4000
Toronto, Ontario M5S 2B4
Phone: 416.960.9500

Head Offi ce, United States
1815 Griffi n Road
Dania Beach, Florida 33004
 
Legal Counsel
Canada
Fogler, Rubinoff LLP

United States
Olshan LLP

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Lenders
The Bank of Nova Scotia
HSBC Bank Canada
JPMorgan Chase Bank
Royal Bank of Canada
The Toronto Dominion Bank
Bank of Montreal
Bank of America
United Overseas Bank

Registrar & Transfer Agent
Canada
Equity Transfer & Trust Company
Phone: 416.361.0152
E-mail: info@equitytransfer.com

U.S. co-transfer agent
Registrar and Transfer Company
Phone: 1.800.368.5948
E-mail: info@rtco.com

Investor Relations
Securities, portfolio managers 
and representatives of fi nancial 
institutions seeking information 
about FirstService may contact:

Lynda Cralli 
Assistant Corporate Secretary
Phone: 416.960.9500

Greg Power
Optimum Public Relations
Phone: 416.934.8059

Stock Exchange Listings
Common Shares:
 NASDAQ Global Select Market (Symbol–FSRV)
 Toronto Stock Exchange (Symbol–FSV) 

Preferred Shares:
 Toronto Stock Exchange (Symbol–FSV.PR.U)

Convertible Debentures:
 Toronto Stock Exchange (Symbol–FSV.DB.U)
 
FirstService common shares are included 
in the S&P/TSX Composite Index.

Earnings & Corporate News
Corporate news releases, including earnings and 
other fi nancial information, are available at:

 Website: www.fi rstservice.com
 Phone: 416.960.9500

Copies of FirstService’s Annual Report and 
Quarterly fi lings may be obtained on-line 
through the Company’s website.

Research Coverage
Investors may contact the following fi rms who 
have recently provided research coverage on 
FirstService:

 William Blair & Co.
 TD Newcrest
 Sidoti & Company
 CIBC World Markets
 Pacifi c International Securities
 Raymond James
 RBC Capital Markets

The reference to such fi rms does not imply any 
endorsement of information by FirstService.



FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION 
Management’s discussion and analysis of results of operations and 
financial condition for the year ended December 31, 2009 
(in US dollars) 
March 1, 2010 
 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial 
Condition (“MD&A”) should be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
and the accompanying notes (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) of FirstService 
Corporation (the “Company” or “FirstService”) for the year ended December 31, 2009. The 
Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). All financial information herein is presented 
in United States dollars. 
 
The Company has prepared this MD&A with reference to National Instrument 51-102 – 
Continuous Disclosure Obligations of the Canadian Securities Administrators (the “CSA”). Under 
the U.S./Canada Multijurisdictional Disclosure System, the Company is permitted to prepare this 
MD&A in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Canada, which requirements are 
different from those of the United States. This MD&A provides information for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 and up to and including March 1, 2010. 
 
Additional information about the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, 
which is included in FirstService’s Annual Report on Form 40-F, can be found on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com and on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") website at 
www.sec.gov. 
 
 
Consolidated review 
 The operating results for the year ended December 31, 2009 reflected growth in 
revenues and profitability in our Residential Property Management and Property Services 
operations, while our Commercial Real Estate business continued to be affected by the global 
economic slowdown and credit contraction that started in 2008. Consolidated revenues for the 
year were $1.70 billion, an increase of 1% over the prior calendar year, primarily attributable to 
recently completed acquisitions. Our adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations (see “Non-GAAP earnings measures” below) were $1.42 for the year, versus $1.37 in 
the prior calendar year (GAAP: loss of $1.85 versus a loss of $0.19 in the prior calendar year). 

 We generated strong operating cash flow in 2009, with $81.0 million of cash flow from 
operations, up 59% relative to 2008, despite difficult market conditions in our Commercial Real 
Estate operations. 

 We acquired controlling interests in three businesses during 2009. The aggregate initial 
purchase price for these acquisitions was $4.9 million and comprised two complementary 
regional operations in the Residential Property Management segment and one in Property 
Services. In addition, in our Commercial Real Estate segment, we purchased a 29.99% interest in 
Colliers CRE plc, a publicly traded commercial real estate services company operating in the UK, 
Ireland and Spain, for cash consideration of $14.0 million.  We also acquired non-controlling 
interests valued at $57.3 million in all three operating segments, the purchase price of which was 
funded with a combination of cash, repayment of notes receivable and Subordinate Voting 
Shares. The cash consideration was funded with borrowings on our revolving credit facility and 
cash on hand. 
  
 In November 2009, we completed a public offering of 6.50% convertible unsecured 
subordinated debentures (“Convertible Debentures”) due December 31, 2014. The net proceeds 
of $73.4 million were used to pay down our revolving credit facility, thereby freeing up additional 
borrowing capacity. 
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 We are the largest member of Colliers International, a global commercial real estate 
services organization operating under a common brand. In January 2010, the members of 
Colliers International voted to align the governance structure of the organization with the 
economic interests of the members, resulting in FirstService gaining control over the Colliers 
International brand. Gaining control over the brand was a significant strategic step that is 
expected to result in a more consistent brand identity around the world and in our clients 
receiving more consistent service delivery across markets.  
 
Retrospective adoption of new accounting standards 

The minority equity positions in the Company’s subsidiaries are now referred to as non-
controlling interests (“NCI”).  On January 1, 2009, we adopted new accounting standards for NCI.  
Except for earnings per share calculations, all presentation and disclosure requirements of the 
new guidance were adopted retrospectively, and as a result we recorded an increase to non-
controlling interest of $105.7 million and a corresponding decrease to shareholders’ equity as of 
April 1, 2007.  As a result of the retrospective adoption, all periods presented have been restated 
for the effect of the adoption of these standards. 
 

The NCI are considered to be redeemable securities and accordingly, the NCI is 
recorded at the greater of (i) the redemption amount or (ii) the amount initially recorded as NCI at 
the date of inception of the minority equity position.   This amount is recorded in the “mezzanine” 
section of the balance sheet, outside of shareholders’ equity.  Changes in the NCI amount are 
recognized immediately as they occur.   
 
Results of operations – year ended December 31, 2009 
 The analysis of the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 is 
presented compared to the twelve-month calendar year ended December 31, 2008.  References 
to “prior year” and “2008” are in respect of this period. 

We reported revenues from continuing operations of $1.70 billion for the year ended 
December 31, 2009, an increase of 1% relative to 2008. The increase was comprised of an 
internal revenue decline of 2%, positive impact of acquisitions of 4% and a 1% decline as a result 
of foreign exchange, as the US dollar appreciated against local currencies at our global 
operations. 
 
 Operating earnings decreased 46% relative to the prior period, to $38.2 million, while 
EBITDA (see “Non-GAAP earnings measures” below) was up 7% to $133.1 million. Operating 
earnings were negatively impacted by $31.1 million of goodwill and intangible asset impairment 
charges and $13.5 million of cost containment expenses in our Commercial Real Estate 
operations during the year ended December 31, 2009. The cost containment charges related to 
workforce reductions and office lease terminations incurred to better match our infrastructure with 
expected future revenues.  The growth in EBITDA was attributable to service mix, with strong 
revenue increases in the Property Services segment at higher margins than the other operating 
segments. 
 
 Depreciation expense was $26.8 million relative to $24.4 million in the prior year.  The 
increase was attributable to investments in information technology platforms in each of the three 
operating segments made over the past two years. 
 
 Amortization expense was $19.6 million in 2009, relative to $18.2 million in the prior year.  
The increase was attributable to (i) a $1.5 million impairment charge in our European operations 
within the Commercial Real Estate segment and (ii) a $0.3 million decrease in backlog 
amortization related to recent Commercial Real Estate acquisitions, where we recorded a short-
lived intangible asset relating to the backlog of pending brokerage transactions that existed at the 
acquisition dates. The backlog intangible is amortized to coincide with the expected completion 
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dates of the underlying brokerage transactions, generally over a period of 6 to 18 months. As of 
December 31, 2009, the net book value of remaining brokerage backlog was $0.1 million. 
 

We recorded a goodwill impairment loss in the amount of $29.6 million during 2009.  We 
were required to perform a goodwill impairment test during the quarter ended March 31, 2009 
triggered by a deterioration of economic conditions in the Commercial Real Estate operations. In 
particular, we determined that there was impairment in the North American and Central Europe & 
Latin American reporting units within the Commercial Real Estate segment driven by (i) adverse 
economic conditions and sharply reduced brokerage activity which in turn reduced future 
expected cash flows and (ii) increased discount rates due to higher risk premiums being 
demanded by market participants.  

 
In relation to the valuation of the impaired reporting units for the goodwill impairment test 

as of March 31, 2009, discounted cash flow projections based on ten-year financial forecasts 
were used. The key assumptions in the forecast for the CRE North America reporting unit were (i) 
a revenue decline of 8% for 2009 followed by annual increases beginning in 2010, reaching a 
steady state internal growth rate of 3% in 2015; (ii) the application of accumulated tax losses in 
the amount of $57 million against future earnings; (iii) a discount rate of 13.5% applied to future 
cash flows and (iv) a terminal growth rate of 2%. The key assumptions in the forecast for the CRE 
Central Europe and Latin America reporting unit were (i) a revenue decline of 52% for 2009 
followed by annual increases beginning in 2010, reaching a steady state internal growth rate of 
5% in 2015; (ii) a discount rate of 14% applied to future cash flows and (iii) a terminal growth rate 
of 2%. If, in future periods, economic conditions and operating results deteriorate, a further 
goodwill impairment charge may be necessary. 
 
 Interest expense decreased to $13.9 million from $16.1 million in the prior year.  Our 
weighted average interest rate decreased to 4.7% from 5.8% in the prior year, primarily on 
account of lower floating reference rates, fixed to floating interest rate swaps entered into during 
2009 and ongoing annual principal repayments on our 8.06% Senior Notes.   
 
 Other income for the current year includes earnings from investments accounted for 
under the equity method in the Commercial Real Estate segment, including Colliers CRE plc, 
acquired in October 2009. 
 

During 2009, we realized a gain of $4.5 million on the sale of our 7% stake in Resolve 
Business Outsourcing Income Fund (“Resolve”).  In the prior year, we recorded a $14.7 million 
other-than-temporary impairment loss on this investment. 
 
 Our consolidated income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2009 was 123% 
versus 53% in 2008. The current year’s tax rate was affected by (i) a non-tax deductible goodwill 
impairment loss and (ii) the recognition of a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets related 
primarily to operating loss carry-forwards. The most significant factor leading to the determination 
that a valuation allowance was necessary is uncertainty in the near-term outlook for taxable 
income in our US Commercial Real Estate operations, consistent with factors that led to the 
goodwill impairment charge. The loss carry-forwards have a statutory carry-forward period of 20 
years. Excluding the impact of these two items, the tax rate would have been 35%, relative to 
16% in the prior year. Our tax rate for both years reflects the continuing benefit of cross-border 
financing structures first implemented in fiscal 2000.  Due to the change in yearend from March 
31 to December 31 as of December 31, 2008, the benefit of the cross-border tax structure for 
2008 was amplified, resulting in the unusually low tax rate of 16%. 
 
 The net loss from continuing operations was $7.3 million, relative to profit of $19.8 million 
in the prior year. The majority of the decrease is attributable to the goodwill impairment in our 
Commercial Real Estate segment. In addition, increases in operating earnings at our Property 
Services and Residential Property Management segments were more than offset by declines in 
our Commercial Real Estate segment. 
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 The Commercial Real Estate segment reported revenues of $623.0 million for 2009, 
down 17% relative to the prior year. Internal revenues declined 20%, foreign exchange resulted in 
a revenue decline of 3% and growth of 6% was attributable to acquisitions. EBITDA (before cost 
containment charges) was $6.4 million, at a margin of 1.0%, versus the prior year’s EBITDA of 
$30.7 million at a margin of 4.1%.  The margin decline was primarily a result of significant 
declines in investment and sales brokerage volumes in all markets, but particularly the United 
States and Europe. During the year we took steps to contain costs and align our service 
capabilities with anticipated revenues. As a result, $13.5 million in cost containment charges were 
incurred relating to severances and lease terminations. 
 

In Residential Property Management, revenues increased 5% to $645 million. Internal 
growth was 4%, with a 6% increase in property management contract revenues offset by a 
modest decline in property services activity including landscape installation and painting. Recent 
business acquisitions accounted for 1% of the growth. Residential Property Management 
reported EBITDA of $61.0 million or 9.4% of revenues, up from $54.3 million or 8.8% of revenues 
in the prior year. 
 

Our Property Services operations reported revenues of $434.8 million, an increase of 
32% versus the prior year, comprised entirely of internal growth. Internal growth was attributable 
to continuing strong volumes of residential property foreclosures at our Field Asset Services 
contractor network. EBITDA for the period was $71.5 million, 59% higher than the prior period, 
and the EBITDA margin increased to 16.4% from 13.7%.  The margin increase was attributable to 
Field Asset Services, which experienced higher margins due to operating leverage associated 
with higher revenues. 

 
Corporate costs for 2009 were $11.2 million relative to $9.2 million in the prior year.  

Costs in the current period were flat in local currency terms, as a result of decisions by 
management to freeze salaries and discretionary expenses. Most expenses are incurred in 
Canadian dollars. The $2.0 million increase in US dollar terms was attributable to foreign 
currency translation losses in 2009 relative to gains in the prior year. 

 
Discontinued operations included: (i) the Integrated Security Services segment, which 

was disposed of in 2008; (ii) the U.S. Mortgage Brokerage (“USMB”) operation, formerly included 
in the Commercial Real Estate segment which was sold in 2009; and (iii) the Canadian 
Commercial Mortgage Securitization (“CCMS”) operation, formerly included in the Commercial 
Real Estate segment, which was wound down in 2009. During 2009, in relation to CCMS, we sold 
all remaining mortgages for proceeds of $14.8 million and settled all outstanding interest rate 
derivative contracts for a cash payment of $10.1 million. Revenues from discontinued operations 
were $5.1 million and the net loss from discontinued operations was $0.6 million. As of December 
31, 2009, all discontinued operations were either sold or wound down. 
 
Results of operations – nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 
 In May 2008, the Board of Directors approved a change in our fiscal year-end from March 
31 to December 31, effective December 31, 2008, resulting in a nine-month transition period 
ended December 31, 2008. The analysis of the results of operations for the nine-month period 
ended December 31, 2008 is presented compared to the nine-month period ended December 31, 
2007.  References to “comparable prior period” are in respect of this period. 

We reported revenues from continuing operations of $1.32 billion for the nine-month 
period ended December 31, 2008, an increase of 12% relative to the comparable prior period.  
The increase was comprised of internal growth of 2%, impact of acquisitions of 12% and a 2% 
decline as a result of foreign exchange, as the US dollar appreciated against the local currencies 
at our global operations. 
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 Operating earnings decreased 8% relative to the comparable prior period, to $83.1 
million, while EBITDA was up 1% to $124.4 million.  The gap between the operating earnings and 
EBITDA performance relative to revenue growth is attributable to: (i) Property Services margin 
declines, due to service mix; and (ii) Commercial Real Estate brokerage transaction volume 
decreases.  The gap between operating earnings and EBITDA is primarily the result of cost 
containment charges incurred in our Commercial Real Estate operations during the nine months 
ended December 31, 2008 and incremental depreciation resulting from capital spending on 
Commercial Real Estate office renovations and information technology during the past year. 
 
 Depreciation and amortization expense was $31.7 million relative to $26.9 million in the 
comparable prior period. The increase in depreciation and amortization was the result of: (i) 
intangible assets recognized upon acquisitions during the past two years; and (ii) increases in 
fixed assets resulting from capital expenditures offset by (iii) a decrease in the amount of backlog 
amortization as a result of lower acquisition activity during the past year. 
 
 Interest expense decreased to $11.1 million from $11.8 million in the comparable prior 
period.  Our weighted average interest rate decreased to 5.4% from 7.1% in the comparable prior 
period.  The $2.9 million of interest income earned during the period was attributable to cash on 
hand. 
 
 Other income for the current period included distributions received on our investment in 
Resolve and earnings from investments accounted for under the equity method in the 
Commercial Real Estate segment.  
 

We held an investment in 2.4 million units of Resolve, representing a 7% stake.  In 
November 2008, Resolve suspended the payment of its monthly distribution.  We determined that 
as of September 30, 2008, and again at December 31, 2008, our investment in Resolve was 
other-than-temporarily impaired and recorded an aggregate non-cash impairment charge of $14.7 
million during the period. 
 
 In July 2008, we paid a $5.7 million cash divestiture bonus to management in connection 
with the successful completion of and substantial gain on the sale of the Integrated Security 
division.  Although the divestiture bonus related to a discontinued operation, under GAAP it was 
required to be reported in continuing operations. 

 Our consolidated income tax rate for the nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 
was 54% versus 31% in the comparable prior period.  The current period’s tax rate was higher 
than expected due to the recognition of a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets related 
primarily to operating loss carry-forwards. Excluding the impact of this item, the tax rate would 
have been 27%, relative to 31% in the prior period. The most significant factor leading to the 
determination that a valuation allowance was necessary is uncertainty in the near-term outlook for 
taxable income in our US Commercial Real Estate operations.  The loss carry-forwards have a 
statutory carry-forward period of 20 years.  Our tax rate for both periods reflected the continuing 
benefit of cross-border financing structures first implemented in fiscal 2000. 
 
 Net earnings from continuing operations were $26.0 million, relative to $58.5 million in the 
comparable prior period. The majority of the decrease was attributable to the Resolve impairment 
loss and the Integrated Security divestiture bonus. Increases in operating earnings at our 
Property Services and Residential Property Management segments were more than offset by 
declines in our Commercial Real Estate segment. 
 
 The Commercial Real Estate segment reported revenues of $578.2 million during the 
current period, down 7% relative to $619.2 million in the comparable prior period. Internal 
revenues declined 11%, foreign exchange resulted in a revenue decline of 3% and growth of 7% 
was attributable to acquisitions in four markets including New York. EBITDA (before a cost 
containment charge) was $42.4 million, at a margin of 7.3%, versus the comparable prior period’s 
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EBITDA of $54.4 million at a margin of 8.8%. The margin decline was primarily a result of the 
following factors: (i) operating losses at certain US brokerage offices due to declines in 
investment and sales brokerage volumes; and (ii) compression due to revenue declines in all 
markets. During the period we took steps to contain costs and align our service capabilities with 
anticipated revenues. As a result, a $6.9 million cost containment charge was incurred relating to 
severances and lease terminations. 
 

In Residential Property Management, revenues increased 18% to $475.3 million. Internal 
growth, resulting from property management contract wins, was 9%, while recent business 
acquisitions accounted for the balance of the growth. Residential Property Management reported 
EBITDA of $44.3 million or 9.3% of revenues, up from $40.2 million or 9.9% of revenues in the 
comparable prior period. 
 

The Property Services operations reported revenues of $269.1 million, an increase of 
72% versus the comparable prior period.  Of the increase, 37% was attributable to acquisitions, 
particularly Field Asset Services, while internal growth was 35%. Internal growth was led by 
growth in residential foreclosure management revenues at our Field Asset Services contractor 
network, offsetting a 12% decline at our consumer-oriented franchise systems. EBITDA for the 
period was $42.0 million, 19% higher than the comparable prior period, and the EBITDA margin 
decreased from 22.5% to 15.6%. The margin decrease was attributable to: (i) the impact of Field 
Asset Services, which operates at a lower margin than the remainder of the segment, on 
average; and (ii) royalty revenue declines at our consumer-oriented franchise systems, which 
have a direct impact on earnings. 

 
Corporate costs for the nine months were $6.8 million relative to $13.1 million in the 

comparable prior period. Costs in the current period benefited from a $0.8 million favorable 
foreign exchange impact, as most costs are incurred in Canadian dollars. Included in the prior 
period was $3.3 million of incremental stock option expense related to options granted during the 
period from 1995 to 2006. 

 
 Discontinued operations included: (i) the Integrated Security Services segment; (ii) 
USMB, formerly included in the Commercial Real Estate segment; (iii) CCMS, formerly included 
in the Commercial Real Estate segment; and (iv) the Business Services segment, disposed in 
March 2006.  Revenues from discontinued operations were $49.6 million and net earnings were 
$48.8 million, including the Integrated Security Services disposal gain of $69.7 million. 
 
Results of operations – year ended March 31, 2008 
 We reported revenues from continuing operations of $1.55 billion for the year ended 
March 31, 2008 (“fiscal 2008”), an increase of 34% relative to the prior year.  The increase was 
comprised of internal growth of 10%, acquisitions of 21% and the impact of foreign exchange of 
3%. 
 
 Operating earnings increased 1% relative to the prior year, to $78.1 million.  EBITDA 
increased 15% to $123.6 million.  The gap between operating earnings relative to revenue and 
EBITDA growth was primarily the result of: (i) an increase in stock-based compensation expense; 
and (ii) the rapid amortization of brokerage backlog intangibles related to recent acquisitions in 
the Commercial Real Estate segment, which had a significant impact on the first year after 
acquisition. 
 
 Depreciation and amortization expense was $37.7 million relative to $26.0 million in the 
prior year. The increase in depreciation and amortization was the result of: (i) intangible assets, 
including brokerage backlog, recognized upon acquisitions during the past two years; and (ii) 
increases in fixed assets resulting from capital expenditures and acquisitions. 
 
 Interest expense increased to $16.9 million from $13.2 million in the prior year.  Our 
weighted average interest rate increased slightly to 7.1% from 6.9% in the prior year.   
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 Other income for fiscal 2008 included distributions received on our investment in Resolve 
and earnings from investments accounted for under the equity method in the Commercial Real 
Estate segment. 
 
 Our consolidated income tax rate for fiscal 2008 was 25% versus 29% in the prior year. 
On January 1, 2008 we recognized a $2.3 million deferred tax asset relating to the deductibility, 
for tax purposes, of stock option expense.  We had previously not recognized this tax benefit. 
  
 Net earnings from continuing operations were $52.3 million, up $2.0 million versus fiscal 
2007.  Increases in our Property Services and Residential Property Management segments were 
offset by declines in our Commercial Real Estate segment coupled with increased costs at 
Corporate, resulting in the decrease in net earnings. 
  
 Our Commercial Real Estate segment reported revenues of $787.5 million during fiscal 
2008, up 36% relative to $577.7 million in the prior year.  Internal growth was 10%, foreign 
exchange contributed 6% and the balance was attributable to acquisitions in several markets 
including South Eastern Europe, Boston and Hawaii.  EBITDA was $42.8 million, at a margin of 
5.4%, versus the prior year’s EBITDA of $46.8 million at a margin of 8.1%.  The margin decline 
was primarily a result of the following factors: (i) operating losses at certain US brokerage offices 
due to declines in investment and sales brokerage volumes; and (ii) lower margins at our 
Australian operations relative to the prior year.  Margins in Canada, Eastern Europe, Asia and 
Latin America were generally consistent with those experienced in the prior year. 
 

In Residential Property Management, revenues increased 29% to $545.0 million.  Internal 
growth, resulting from property management contract wins, was 9%, while acquisitions in 
California, Texas and the Northeast accounted for the balance of the growth.  Residential 
Property Management reported EBITDA of $50.2 million or 9.2% of revenues, up from $40.3 
million or 9.5% of revenues in the prior year.  The decrease in margin was primarily the result of a 
decrease in higher margin ancillary services. 
 

The Property Services operations reported revenues of $217.0 million, an increase of 
44% versus the prior year.  Of the increase, 34% was attributable to acquisitions, particularly 
Field Asset Services, while internal growth was 9% and foreign exchange had a positive impact of 
1%. Internal growth was led by increases in royalty revenues primarily at our CertaPro franchise 
system. EBITDA for the year was $38.4 million, 26% higher than the prior year, and the EBITDA 
margin decreased from 20.3% to 17.7%. The margin decrease was attributable to: (i) unusually 
low expenses in the comparative year, due to bad debt recoveries and the deferral of a 
franchisee conference and (ii) the impact of the Field Asset Services acquisition, which operates 
at a lower margin than the remainder of the segment. 

 
Corporate costs rose to $15.6 million from $14.6 million in fiscal 2007.  Included in the 

current year is a charge of $3.3 million related to additional stock-based compensation expense 
as a result of the stock option review completed in the third quarter.  No senior management 
bonuses were accrued in fiscal 2008 under our performance-based incentive compensation plan. 

 
Discontinued operations included: (i) the Integrated Security Services segment; (ii) 

USMB, formerly included in the Commercial Real Estate segment; (iii) CCMS, formerly included 
in the Commercial Real Estate segment and (iii) the Business Services segment, disposed in 
March 2006.  Revenues from discontinued operations were $222.9 million.  The Company 
realized a gain of $2.3 million in August 2007 on the settlement of a liability in connection with the 
March 2006 disposal of our Business Services operations.  The net loss from discontinued 
operations was $2.8 million. 
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Selected annual information – last five fiscal periods 
(in thousands of US$, except per share amounts) 
 

 
Year  

ended  
December 31 

Nine months 
ended 

December 31 

Year  
ended  

March 31 

 2009 2008 2008 2008 2007 2006 

OPERATIONS 
      

Revenues $ 1,703,222  $ 1,691,811 $ 1,322,680 $ 1,549,713 $ 1,152,821 $ 918,668 
Operating earnings 38,181 71,327 83,130 78,122 77,005 61,087 
Net (loss) earnings from continuing 

operations (7,279) 19,837 26,027 52,277 50,245 38,535 
Net (loss) earnings from discontinued 

operations (576) 45,297 48,840 (2,829) 2,290 42,843 
Net (loss) earnings (7,855) 65,134 74,867 49,448 51,181 81,378 
       
FINANCIAL POSITION       
Total assets $ 1,009,530 $ 990,637 $ 990,637 $ 1,089,343  $ 816,998  $ 711,004 
Long-term debt 235,994 266,369 266,369 356,030 235,149 248,686 
Convertible debentures 77,000 - - - - - 
Shareholders’ equity 166,034 199,141 199,141 131,553 159,181 187,215 
       
COMMON SHARE DATA       
Net (loss) earnings per common  
  share:       
    Basic       
        Continuing operations $ (1.85)  $ (0.19)  $ 0.12 $ 0.95 $ 1.17 $ 0.89  
        Discontinued operations (0.02) 1.61 1.71 (0.03) 0.04 1.41 
        Cumulative effect adjustment        -        -        -        - (0.04)        -   
 (1.87) 1.42 1.83 0.92 1.17 2.30 
    Diluted       
        Continuing operations $ (1.85)  $ (0.19) $ 0.11 $ 0.89 $ 1.08  0.83  
        Discontinued operations (0.02) 1.61 1.70 (0.04) 0.04 1.38 
        Cumulative effect adjustment        -        -        -       -   (0.04)        -   
 (1.87) 1.42 1.81 0.85 1.08 2.21 
Weighted average common shares   
  outstanding (thousands)       
    Basic 29,438 29,684 29,584 29,905 29,903 30,171 
    Diluted 29,516 29,914 29,755 30,547 30,354 30,896 
Cash dividends per common share - - - - - - 
       
PREFERRED SHARE DATA       
Number outstanding (thousands) 5,772 5,772 5,772 5,979 - - 
Cash dividends per preferred share $ 1.75 $ 1.75  $ 1.31 $ 1.16 - - 
       
OTHER DATA       
EBITDA $ 133,067 $ 124,745 $ 124,361 $ 123,614  $ 107,983  $ 84,319 
Adjusted diluted net earnings per 

share from continuing operations 1.42 1.37 1.55 1.32 1.17 0.75 
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Quarterly results – fiscal periods ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 and March 31, 2008  
(in thousands of US$, except per share amounts) 
 

Fiscal period Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Period 

      
Year ended December 31, 2009      
Revenues $ 361,009 $ 425,344 $ 451,080 $ 465,789 $ 1,703,222 
Operating (loss) earnings  (34,273) 25,429 28,143 18,882 38,181 
Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations (44,327) 11,659 16,678 8,711 (7,279) 
Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations (3,921) 692 (19) 2,672 (576) 
Net (loss) earnings (48,248) 12,351 16,659 11,383 (7,855) 
Net (loss) earnings per common share:      
    Basic (1.65) (0.07) 0.16 (0.32) (1.87) 
    Diluted (1.65) (0.07) 0.16 (0.32) (1.87) 
      
Nine-month period ended December 31, 2008      
Revenues $ 454,769 $ 450,051 $ 417,860  NA $ 1,322,680 
Operating earnings  35,278 35,442 12,410  83,130 
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations 23,837 19,257 (17,068)  26,027 
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations 325 67,628 (19,113)  48,840 
Net earnings (loss) 24,162 86,885 (36,181)  74,867 
Net earnings (loss) per common share:       
    Basic 0.51 2.68 (1.36)  1.83 
    Diluted 0.47 2.66 (1.36)  1.81 
      
Year ended March 31, 2008      
Revenues $ 359,661 $ 373,287 $ 447,634 $ 369,131 $ 1,549,713 
Operating earnings (loss) 33,449 32,833 23,643 (11,803) 78,122 
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations 20,992 20,818 16,657 (6,190) 52,277 
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations 4,002 997 (4,285) (3,543) (2,829) 
Net earnings (loss) 24,994 21,815 12,372 (9,733) 49,448 
Net earnings (loss) per common share:      
    Basic 0.61 0.53 0.18 (0.40) 0.92 
    Diluted 0.56 0.50 0.15 (0.40) 0.85 
      

OTHER DATA      

EBITDA – Year ended December 31, 2009 $ 12,419 $ 41,183 $ 43,511 $ 35,954 $ 133,067 

EBITDA – Period ended December 31, 2008 47,113 47,451 29,797 NA 124,361 

EBITDA – Year ended March 31, 2008 41,509 42,760 38,961 384 123,614 

      

 
 
Results of operations – fourth quarter ended December 31, 2009 

Consolidated operating results for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2009 improved 
relative to the results experienced in the prior year quarter in terms of revenues, EBITDA and 
operating earnings. Commercial Real Estate revenues increased 13% versus the prior year 
quarter due to improved brokerage transaction volume, primarily in Canada and Australia, as well 
as favorable foreign exchange rate impacts as the US dollar declined in value against foreign 
currencies. Property Services revenues were up 14% versus the prior year period, primarily due 
to continuing growth in residential property foreclosure services. EBITDA and operating earnings 
margins held steady or improved at all of our operating segments and, on a consolidated basis 
the EBITDA margin improved 80 basis points to 7.7% while the operating earnings margin 
improved 110 basis points to 4.1%. 

 
Operating outlook 

We are committed to a long-term growth strategy that includes average internal revenue 
growth in the 8-10% range combined with acquisitions to build each of our service platforms, 
resulting in targeted average annual percentage growth in revenues, EBITDA and earnings per 
share in excess of 15%. Economic conditions will negatively or positively impact these 
percentage growth rates in any given year. Given current economic conditions, for 2010 we 
expect modest revenue and earnings growth in each of our operating segments. 
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Seasonality and quarterly fluctuations 
Certain segments of the Company’s operations are subject to seasonal variations. The 

seasonality of the service lines noted below results in variations in quarterly revenues and 
operating margins. Variations can also be caused by acquisitions or dispositions, which alter the 
consolidated service mix. 

 
The Commercial Real Estate segment generates peak revenues and earnings in the 

month of December followed by a low in January and February as a result of the timing of 
closings on commercial real estate brokerage transactions. Revenues and earnings during the 
balance of the year are relatively even. These brokerage operations comprise approximately 21% 
of consolidated revenues. 

 
The demand for exterior painting (Property Services segment) and swimming pool 

management in the northern United States and Canada (Residential Property Management 
segment) is highest during late spring, summer and early fall and very low during winter. These 
operations generate most of their annual revenues and earnings between April and September 
and comprise approximately 7% of consolidated revenues. 
 
Liquidity and capital resources 

The Company generated cash flow from operating activities, including discontinued 
operations, of $81.0 million for year ended December 31, 2009.  Operating cash flow excluding 
the effect of discontinued operations was $83.3 million relative to $46.4 million for prior year. The 
increase in operating cash flow was attributable to improvements in working capital, particularly 
increases in accrued liabilities related to broker commissions and employee compensation which 
are a result of timing of payments.  We expect these accruals to decrease in 2010, resulting in 
cash outflows during the first quarter. We believe that cash from operations and other existing 
resources will continue to be adequate to satisfy the ongoing working capital needs of the 
Company. 
 

During 2009, we invested cash in acquisitions as follows: $4.5 million in new business 
acquisitions, $12.4 million in contingent consideration payments related to previously completed 
acquisitions, $42.6 million in acquisitions of non-controlling interests, and $14.0 million to 
purchase shares accounted for as equity method investments. 

 
In relation to acquisitions completed during the past three fiscal periods, we have 

outstanding contingent consideration totaling $23.4 million as at December 31, 2009 (December 
31, 2008 - $51.8 million) assuming all contingencies are satisfied and payment due in full.  On 
pre-January 1, 2009 acquisitions, the amount of the contingent consideration is not recorded as a 
liability unless the outcome of the contingency is resolved and additional consideration is paid or 
payable and is recorded as additional costs of the acquired businesses. On post-December 31, 
2008 acquisitions, the contingent consideration liability is recognized at fair value upon acquisition 
and is updated to fair value each quarter. The contingent consideration is based on achieving 
specified earnings levels, and is paid or payable at the end of the contingency period, which 
extends to February 2012. We estimate that, based on current operating results, approximately 
10% of the contingent consideration outstanding as of December 31, 2009 will ultimately be paid.   

 
Capital expenditures for the year were $24.2 million, which consisted primarily of 

investments in productivity-enhancing information technology systems in all three operating 
segments. For 2010, we expect to deploy approximately $30 million in capital expenditures, with 
a focus on information technology systems primarily in our Commercial Real Estate operations. 

 
Net indebtedness as at December 31, 2009 was $213.2 million, versus $186.7 million at 

December 31, 2008. Net indebtedness is calculated as the current and non-current portions of 
long-term debt less cash and cash equivalents. Excluding the Convertible Debentures, which we 
expect will be settled in Subordinate Voting Shares, net indebtedness as at December 31, 2009 
was $136.2 million. 
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We have an amended and restated credit agreement with a syndicate of banks to provide 

a $225 million committed senior revolving credit facility with a five-year term extending to 
September 2012. The credit facility bears interest at 0.75% to 1.30% over floating reference 
rates, depending on the ratio of our net debt to adjusted EBITDA (0.95% over floating reference 
rate as of December 31, 2009). In November 2009, we received net proceeds of $73.4 million on 
a public offering of Convertible Debentures, which was applied to reduce indebtedness under our 
credit facility. We had $142.7 million of available revolving credit as of December 31, 2009.  
Given the Convertible Debenture financing completed in 2009 and the 2.7 year remaining term on 
our credit facility, we do not foresee a need to access capital markets for financing in the near 
term. 

 
We are in compliance with the covenants required of our financing agreements as at 

December 31, 2009 and we expect to remain in compliance with such covenants going forward. 
 
 During the year ended December 31, 2009, we paid $10.1 million of dividends on the 
Preferred Shares. The annual Preferred Share dividend obligation for 2010, based on the number 
of Preferred Shares outstanding as of December 31, 2009, is $10.1 million. We also distributed 
$13.3 million to minority shareholders of subsidiaries during the same period, primarily to facilitate 
the payment of income taxes on account of those subsidiaries organized as flow-through entities.  
These distributions are expected to decrease in 2010 on account of recent purchases of non-
controlling interests. 
 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as at December 31, 2009: 
 

Contractual obligations Payments due by period 
(in thousands of US$) 

Total 
Less than 1 

year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years 

      
Long-term debt $ 233,480 $ 20,180 $ 114,718 $ 65,219 $ 33,363 
Convertible Debentures 77,000 - - 77,000 - 
Interest on long-term debt 37,775 11,492 17,333 7,882 1,068 
Interest on Convertible Debentures 25,025 5,005 10,010 10,010 - 
Capital lease obligations 3,821 2,167 1,650 4 - 
Operating leases 207,414 47,992 81,209 49,027 29,186 
      
Total contractual obligations $ 584,515 $ 86,836 $ 224,920 $ 209,142 $ 63,617 

 
At December 31, 2009, we had commercial commitments totaling $12.8 million 

comprised of letters of credit outstanding due to expire within one year. We are required to make 
semi-annual payments of interest on our Senior Notes and Convertible Debentures at a weighted 
average interest rate of 6.2%. 
 
 To manage our insurance costs, we take on risk in the form of high deductibles on many 
of our coverages. We believe this step reduces overall insurance costs in the long term, but may 
cause fluctuations in the short term depending on the frequency and severity of insurance 
incidents. 
 

One of our subsidiaries has issued options to purchase shares to its operating managers.  
The numerators for our diluted earnings per share calculations are adjusted to account for 
potential dilution from stock options in the subsidiary, if any. When stock options are exercised, 
the minority shareholders become party to a shareholders’ agreement as described below. 
 

In most operations where managers, employees or brokers are also minority owners, the 
Company is party to shareholders’ agreements.  These agreements allow us to “call” the minority 
position at fair value determined with the use of a formula price, which is in most cases equal to a 
multiple of trailing two-year average earnings, less debt.  Minority owners may also “put” their 
interest to the Company at the same price, with certain limitations including (i) the inability to “put” 
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more than 50% of their holdings in any twelve-month period and (ii) the inability to “put” any 
holdings for at least one year after the date of our initial acquisition of the business or the date the 
minority shareholder acquired the stock, as the case may be.  The total value of the minority 
shareholders’ interests (the “redemption amount”), as calculated in accordance with shareholders’ 
agreements, was as follows.   
 

(in thousands of US$) 
  

December 31, 
2009 

 
December 31, 

2008 
      
Commercial Real Estate   $ 22,174   $ 56,020 
Residential Property Management   66,621  84,458 
Property Services   67,992  56,287 

Redemption amount   $ 156,787  $ 196,765 

 
The amount recorded on our balance sheet under the caption “non-controlling interests” 

is the greater of (i) the redemption amount (as above) or (ii) the amount initially recorded as NCI 
at the date of inception of the minority equity position.  As at December 31, 2009, the NCI 
recorded on the balance sheet was $164.2 million.  The purchase prices of the NCI may be paid 
in cash or in Subordinate Voting Shares of FirstService. 
 
Discussion of critical accounting estimates 

Critical accounting estimates are those that management deems to be most important to 
the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations, and that require management’s 
most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, due to the need to make estimates about the 
effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. We have identified five critical accounting 
estimates: goodwill impairment testing, accounting for income taxes, accounts receivable 
allowances, amortization of intangible assets and acquisition purchase price allocations. 
 
   Goodwill impairment testing involves making estimates concerning the fair value of 
reporting units and then comparing the fair value to the carrying amount of each unit. The 
determination of what constitutes a reporting unit requires significant management judgment. The 
Company has eight reporting units determined with reference to service type, customer type, 
service delivery model and geography. Goodwill is attributed to the reporting units at the time of 
acquisition.  Estimates of fair value can be impacted by sudden changes in the business 
environment, prolonged economic downturns or declines in the market value of the Company’s 
own shares and therefore require significant management judgment in their determination. A 10% 
decline in the fair value of each reporting unit as of December 31, 2009 would not result in an 
indication of impairment. The determination of fair value is done with reference to a discounted 
cash flow model which requires management to make certain estimates. The most sensitive 
estimates are estimated future cash flows and the discount rate applied to future cash flows. 
Changes in these assumptions could result in a materially different fair value.  
 

Income taxes are calculated based on the expected treatment of transactions recorded in 
the consolidated financial statements.  The benefits of certain net operating loss carry-forwards, 
which have been recognized in the financial statements, require significant management 
judgment regarding future realization.  In determining current and deferred components of income 
taxes, we interpret tax legislation and make assumptions about the timing of the reversal of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities.  If our interpretations differ from those of tax authorities or if the 
timing of reversals is not as anticipated, the provision for income taxes could increase or 
decrease materially in future periods.  A 10% reduction in the deferred income tax valuation 
allowance would reduce income tax expense by $3.3 million. 

 
 Accounts receivable allowances are determined using a combination of historical 
experience, current information, and management judgment.  Actual collections may differ from 
our estimates.  A 10% increase in the accounts receivable allowance would increase bad debt 
expense by $1.8 million. 
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Amortization of intangible assets requires management to make estimates of useful lives 
and to select methods of amortization.  Useful lives and methods of amortization are determined 
at the time assets are initially acquired, and then are re-evaluated each reporting period.  
Significant judgment is required to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a 
revision to remaining periods of amortization.  Changes to estimated useful lives and methods of 
amortization could result in increases or decreases in amortization expense.  A 10% reduction to 
the weighted average useful life of intangible assets, other than short-lived brokerage backlog, 
would result in an increase to the amortization expense for the period of $1.6 million. 
 

Acquisition purchase price allocations require use of estimates and judgment on the part 
of management, especially in the determination of intangible assets acquired.  For example, if 
different assumptions were used regarding the profitability and expected lives of acquired 
customer contracts and relationships, different amounts of intangible assets and related 
amortization could be reported.  A 10% increase in the amount allocated to intangible assets 
during the year ended December 31, 2009 would result in an increase to amortization expense 
for the period of $0.1 million. 
 
Non-GAAP earnings measures 
 EBITDA is defined as net earnings from continuing operations before non-controlling 
interest share of earnings, income taxes, interest, depreciation, amortization, cost containment 
and stock-based compensation expense. The Company uses EBITDA to evaluate its own 
operating performance and as an integral part of its planning and reporting systems. Additionally, 
the Company uses EBITDA in conjunction with discounted cash flow models to determine its 
overall enterprise valuation and to evaluate acquisition targets. The Company believes EBITDA is 
a reasonable measure of operating performance because of the low capital intensity of its service 
operations. The Company believes EBITDA is a financial metric used by many investors to 
compare companies, especially in the services industry. EBITDA is not a recognized measure of 
financial performance under GAAP in the United States, and should not be considered as a 
substitute for operating earnings, net earnings or cash flow from operating activities, as 
determined in accordance with GAAP. The Company’s method of calculating EBITDA may differ 
from other issuers and accordingly, EBITDA may not be comparable to measures used by other 
issuers.  A reconciliation of net earnings from continuing operations to EBITDA appears below. 
 

(in thousands of US$) 

Year  
ended  

December 31  

Nine months 
ended 

December 31  

Year 
ended 

March 31 
 2009 2008  2008  2008 

Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations 
 

$ (7,279) $ 19,837   
 

$  26,027  

 

$ 52,277  

Income tax 39,066 22,246   30,878  17,108  

Other income, net (1,624) (3,248)  (2,422)  (4,650) 

Interest expense, net 12,506 12,097   8,252  13,387 

(Gain) loss on available-for-sale securities (4,488) 14,680   14,680  -  

Integrated Security division divestiture bonus - 5,715   5,715  - 

Operating earnings 38,181 71,327   83,130  78,122  

Depreciation and amortization 46,383 42,558   31,746  37,673  

Goodwill impairment charge 29,583 -  -  - 

 114,147 113,885  114,876  115,795 

Stock-based compensation expense 5,424 3,926   2,551  7,819  

Cost containment 13,496 6,934   6,934  - 
 

EBITDA $ 133,067 $ 124,745  $ 124,361 

 

$ 123,614 

 
 
 Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations is defined as diluted net 
earnings per share from continuing operations plus the effect, after income taxes, of: (i) the non-
controlling interest redemption increment recognized in connection with the accounting standards 
on NCI; (ii) amortization expense related to intangible assets recognized in connection with 
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acquisitions; (iii) goodwill impairment charges; (iv) stock-based compensation expense; (v) cost 
containment expense; (vi) gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and (vii) deferred 
income tax valuation allowances related to tax loss carry-forwards. The Company believes 
adjusted earnings per share is a useful measure of operating performance because it enhances 
the comparability of operating results from period to period. This is not a recognized measure of 
financial performance under GAAP, and should not be considered as a substitute for diluted net 
earnings per share from continuing operations, as determined in accordance with GAAP. The 
Company’s method of calculating this measure may differ from other issuers and, accordingly, 
this measure may not be comparable to measures used by other issuers. A reconciliation 
appears below. 
 

(in US$) 

Year 
ended 

December 31  

Nine months 
ended 

December 31  

Year 
ended 

March 31 
 2009 2008  2008  2008 
Diluted net (loss) earnings per common share from continuing 

operations $ (1.85)  $ (0.19)  $ 0.11 
 

$ 0.89 

Pro forma impact of dividends on preferred shares - -  -  (0.12) 

Non-controlling interest redemption increment 1.10 -  -  - 

Amortization of intangible assets, net of tax 0.39 0.35  0.25  0.33 

Goodwill impairment charge 0.93 -  -  - 

Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax 0.11 0.08  0.05  0.22 

Cost containment, net of tax 0.30 0.15  0.15  - 

Integrated Security division divestiture bonus, net of tax - 0.12  0.12  - 

(Gain) loss on available-for-sale securities, net of tax (0.10) 0.40  0.41  - 

Deferred income tax valuation allowance 0.54 0.46  0.46  - 

Adjusted diluted net earnings per common share from 
continuing operations $ 1.42 $ 1.37  $ 1.55 

 

$ 1.32 

 
 
Stock-based compensation expense 

One of our key operating principles is for senior management to have a significant long-
term equity stake in the businesses they operate.  The equity owned by senior management 
takes the form of stock, stock options or notional value appreciation plans, the latter two of which 
require the recognition of compensation expense under GAAP.  The amount of expense 
recognized with respect to stock options is determined by allocating the grant-date fair value of 
each option over the expected term of the option.  The amount of expense recognized with 
respect to notional value appreciation plans is re-measured quarterly. 
 
Recently adopted accounting standards 

As of July 1, 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) became the single source for authoritative non-governmental 
GAAP in the United States of America and superseded all existing non-SEC accounting and 
reporting standards.  All other non-grandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included in 
the ASC became non-authoritative.  The Company adopted the ASC and all references to US 
GAAP are to the ASC topic number, rather than to the previous FASB Statement of Accounting 
Standards numbers and titles, unless a specific standard has not been included in the ASC.  The 
adoption of the ASC did not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations or 
financial position. 

 
The Company adopted a new accounting standard requiring additional disclosure for 

derivatives and hedging activities on January 1, 2009.  The new standard includes enhanced 
disclosures about the Company’s derivative and hedging activities such as the objective for using 
derivative instruments, the method of accounting for derivative instruments and related hedged 
items, and the effect of derivative instruments and related hedged items on the Company’s 
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.  
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As of January 1, 2009, the Company began to apply a new accounting standard on fair 
value measurements to all non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at 
fair value on a non-recurring basis which is consistent with the fair value requirements for 
financial assets and liabilities.  The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on the 
Company’s results of operations or financial position.  Where required, assets and liabilities are 
measured using inputs from the three levels of the fair value hierarchy.  An asset or liability’s 
classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement.  The three levels are as follows: 

 
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 – Observable market-based inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities 
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs 
 

The Company adopted additional guidance issued to assist in the determination of the 
useful life of intangible assets on January 1, 2009.  The new guidance amends the factors used 
when considering the useful life of recognized intangible assets.  The adoption did not have a 
material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position. 

 
On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted new accounting standards for NCI. Except for 

earnings per share calculations, all presentation and disclosure requirements were adopted 
retrospectively, and as a result the Company recorded an increase to NCI of $105.7 million (see 
note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and a corresponding decrease to 
shareholders’ equity as of April 1, 2007.  As a result of retrospective adoption, all periods 
presented have been restated for the effect of the adoption of these standards, however 
consistent with the transition provisions the Company presented the effect of the adoption of 
these standards on earnings per share prospectively, effective January 1, 2009. 

 
The NCI are considered to be redeemable securities and accordingly, the NCI is 

recorded at the greater of (i) the redemption amount or (ii) the amount initially recorded as NCI at 
the date of inception of the minority equity position. This amount is recorded in the “mezzanine” 
section of the balance sheet, outside of shareholders’ equity. Changes in the NCI amount are 
recognized immediately as they occur.   

 
The Company adopted a new accounting standard for business combinations on January 

1, 2009. The new standard prospectively changes the manner in which business acquisitions are 
accounted for. The following are key requirements for acquisitions completed under the standard: 
(i) transaction costs are expensed; (ii) contingent consideration is recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date; and (iii) the fair value of contingent consideration is re-measured each period.  
This standard is not applicable to acquisitions where control is not obtained.  The adoption of this 
standard did not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial 
position, as acquisitions for 2009 were not material. 
 
Impact of recently issued accounting standards 

In June 2009, the FASB issued new consolidation guidance for variable interest entities.  
The new guidance amends the consolidation guidance for variable interest entities, in particular: 
(i) to require ongoing reassessments of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a 
variable interest entity; (ii) to eliminate the quantitative approach previously required for 
determining the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity and (iii) to require enhanced 
disclosures that will provide more transparent information about involvement in a variable interest 
entity, if any.  It is possible that the application of the new guidance will change an enterprise’s 
assessment of which entities with which it is involved are variable interest entities.  This standard 
is effective as of January 1, 2010.  We are in the process of evaluating the impact of its adoption. 

 
Transactions with related parties 
 Please refer to note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information 
regarding transactions with related parties. 
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Outstanding share data 
 The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of preference 
shares, issuable in series, of which are authorized an unlimited number of Preferred Shares, an 
unlimited number of Subordinate Voting Shares and an unlimited number of Multiple Voting 
Shares.  The holders of Subordinate Voting Shares are entitled to one vote in respect of each 
Subordinate Voting Share held at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company.  The holders 
of Multiple Voting Shares are entitled to twenty votes in respect of each Multiple Voting Share 
held at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company. The holders of the Preferred Shares are 
not entitled, except as otherwise provided by law or in the conditions attaching to the Preferred 
Shares as a class, to receive notice of, attend or vote at any meeting of the shareholders of the 
Company. Each Multiple Voting Share is convertible into one Subordinate Voting Share at any 
time at the election of the holders thereof. The Preferred Shares are redeemable for cash or 
convertible into Subordinate Voting Shares at the option of the Company at any time as set out in 
the Articles of the Company. 
 

The Company also has outstanding US$77.0 million aggregate principal amount of 
Convertible Debentures. The Convertible Debentures mature on December 31, 2014 and accrue 
interest at the rate of 6.50% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and 
December 31 in each year, commencing June 30, 2010. At the holder’s option, the Convertible 
Debentures may be converted into Subordinate Voting Shares at any time prior to the close of 
business on the earlier of the business day immediately preceding either the maturity date and 
the date specified by FirstService for redemption of the Convertible Debentures. The conversion 
price is US$28.00 for each Subordinate Voting Share, subject to adjustment in certain 
circumstances. The Convertible Debentures will not be redeemable before December 31, 2012. 
On and after December 31, 2012 and prior to December 31, 2013, the Convertible Debentures 
may be redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at FirstService’s option, provided that the 
volume weighted average trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (converted into a US dollar equivalent) during the 20 consecutive trading days ending 
on the fifth trading day preceding the date on which the notice of the redemption is given is not 
less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after December 31, 2013 and prior to the maturity 
date, FirstService may, at its option, redeem the Convertible Debentures, in whole or in part, from 
time to time at par plus accrued and unpaid interest. Subject to specified conditions, FirstService 
has the right to repay the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Debentures, on maturity 
or redemption, through the issuance of Subordinate Voting Shares. FirstService also has the 
option to satisfy its obligation to pay interest through the issuance and sale of Subordinate Voting 
Shares. A summary of additional terms of the Convertible Debentures is set out in the section 
entitled "Description Of The Securities Being Distributed" contained in the Company’s (final) 
prospectus dated November 3, 2009 qualifying the distribution of the Convertible Debentures, 
which section is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 As of the date hereof, the Company has outstanding 28,299,216 Subordinate Voting 
Shares, 1,325,694 Multiple Voting Shares and 5,772,274 Preferred Shares. In addition, as at the 
date hereof: (a) 1,655,000 Subordinate Voting Shares are issuable upon exercise of options 
granted under the Company’s stock option plan; and (b) 2,750,000 Subordinate Voting Shares 
are issuable upon conversion or redemption or in respect of repayment at maturity of the 
outstanding Convertible Debentures (using the conversion price of US$28.00 for each 
Subordinate Voting Share), with a maximum of 3,871,290 Subordinate Voting Shares being 
issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Debentures following certain “change of control” 
transactions. 

Canadian tax treatment of preferred dividends 
For the purposes of the enhanced dividend tax credit rules contained in the Income Tax 

Act (Canada) and any corresponding provincial and territorial tax legislation, all dividends (and 
deemed dividends) paid by us to Canadian residents on our Preferred Shares are designated as 
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“eligible dividends”.  Unless stated otherwise, all dividends (and deemed dividends) paid by us 
hereafter are designated as “eligible dividends” for the purposes of such rules. 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures 

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, with the assistance and 
participation of other Company management, have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Canada by 
National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings and 
in the United States by Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the United States Securities and 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of December 31, 2009 (the 
“Evaluation Date”).  Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective to give reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed 
by the Company in reports that it files or submits under Canadian securities legislation and the 
Exchange Act is: (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified therein; and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. 

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 

over financial reporting for the Company.  Internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. 

 
Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or 

detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 
We have excluded four individually insignificant entities acquired by the Company during 

the last fiscal period from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as at 
December 31, 2009.  The total assets and total revenues of the three individually insignificant 
entities and one equity investee of the Company represent 2.2% and 0.1%, respectively, of the 
related consolidated financial statement amounts including discontinued operations as at and for 
the year ended December 31, 2009. 

 
Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 

financial reporting as at December 31, 2009, based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as at December 31, 
2009, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective. 

 The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at 
December 31, 2009, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s 
independent auditors.  The attestation report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is included in 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s report to the shareholders of the Company dated March 1, 2010, 
which accompanies the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2009. 
 
Changes in internal control over financial reporting 

During the year ended December 31, 2009, there were no changes in our internal control 
over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
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Additional information 
 Copies of publicly filed documents of the Company, including our Annual Information 
Form, can be found through the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 
 
Forward-looking statements 

This MD&A contains forward-looking statements with respect to expected financial 
performance, strategy and business conditions. The words “believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” 
“plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “project,” “will,” “would,” and similar expressions are intended to 
identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these 
identifying words. These statements reflect management’s current beliefs with respect to future 
events and are based on information currently available to management. Forward-looking 
statements involve significant known and unknown risk and uncertainties. Many factors could 
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking 
statements. Factors which may cause such differences include, but are not limited to those set 
out below and those set out in detail in the “Risk Factors” section of the Company’s Annual 
Information Form, which is included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 40-F: 
 

• Commercial real estate property values, vacancy rates and general conditions of 
financial liquidity for real estate transactions. 

• Economic conditions, especially as they relate to consumer spending. 
• Extreme weather conditions impacting demand for our services or our ability to perform 

those services. 
• Political conditions, including any outbreak or escalation of terrorism or hostilities and the 

impact thereof on our business. 
• Competition in the markets served by the Company. 
• Labor shortages or increases in wage and benefit costs. 
• The effects of changes in interest rates on our cost of borrowing. 
• Unexpected increases in operating costs, such as insurance, workers’ compensation, 

health care and fuel prices. 
• Changes in the frequency or severity of insurance incidents relative to our historical 

experience. 
• The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates in relation to the US dollar on the 

Company’s Canadian dollar, Australian dollar and Euro denominated revenues and 
expenses. 

• Our ability to make acquisitions at reasonable prices and successfully integrate acquired 
operations. 

• Changes in government policies at the federal, state/provincial or local level that may 
adversely impact our businesses. 

 
We caution that the foregoing list is not exhaustive of all possible factors, as other factors 

could adversely affect our results, performance or achievements. The reader is cautioned 
against undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the 
assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of the assumptions 
could prove inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the results contemplated 
in such forward-looking statements will be realized. The inclusion of such forward-looking 
statements should not be regarded as a representation by the Company or any other person that 
the future events, plans or expectations contemplated by the Company will be achieved.  We 
note that past performance in operations and share price are not necessarily predictive of future 
performance. We disclaim any intention and assume no obligation to update or revise any 
forward-looking statement even if new information becomes available, as a result of future 
events or for any other reason. 
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FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION 
 
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT 
 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) 
of FirstService Corporation (the “Company”) and all information in this annual report are the responsibility of 
management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America using the best estimates and judgments of 
management, where appropriate.  The most significant of these accounting principles are set out in Note 2 
to the consolidated financial statements. Management has prepared the financial information presented 
elsewhere in this annual report and has ensured that it is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements.  
 

The MD&A has been prepared in accordance with National Instrument 51-102 of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators, taking into consideration other relevant guidance, including Regulation S-K of the US 
Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 

The Board of Directors of the Company has an Audit Committee consisting of three independent directors.  
The Audit Committee meets regularly to review with management and the independent auditors any 
significant accounting, internal control, auditing and financial reporting matters.  
 

These consolidated financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, which have 
been appointed as the independent auditors of the Company by the shareholders.  As auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP obtain an understanding of the Company’s internal controls and procedures 
for financial reporting to plan and conduct such audit procedures as they consider necessary to express 
their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. As auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have full 
and independent access to the Audit Committee to discuss their findings. 
 
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting for the Company.  Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  
 

Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of its effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
 

Management has excluded four individually insignificant entities acquired by the Company during the last 
fiscal period from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2009.   The 
total assets and total revenues of the three individually insignificant entities and one equity method investee 
of the Company represent 2.2% and 0.1%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement 
amounts as at and for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
 

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as 
at December 31, 2009, based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, 
management has concluded that, as at December 31, 2009, the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting was effective.   
 

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2009, has 
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent auditors as stated in their 
report which appears herein. 
 

  
/s/ Jay S. Hennick 
Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ John B. Friedrichsen 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
March 1, 2010 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of FirstService Corporation 
 
We have completed integrated audits of FirstService Corporation’s December 31, 2009, December 31, 
2008 and March 31, 2008 consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial 
reporting as at December 31, 2009.  Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below. 
 
Consolidated financial statements  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of FirstService Corporation as at 
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, 
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2009, nine-month period ended 
December 31, 2008 and for the year ended March 31, 2008.  These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. 
  
We conducted our audits of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit of financial statements 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  A financial statement audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2009, the nine-month period 
ended December 31, 2008 and for the year ended March 31, 2008 in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Internal control over financial reporting  
We have also audited FirstService Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 
2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).  The Company’s management is 
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects.  An audit of internal control over financial reporting 
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the 
circumstances.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has 
excluded four individually insignificant entities acquired by the Company from its assessment of internal 
control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2009 because these entities were acquired by the 
Company in acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2009.  The total assets and total revenues of 
the three individually insignificant entities and one equity method investee represent 2.2% and 0.1% 
respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2009. 
 
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as at December 31, 2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework issued by COSO. 
 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

 

 

Toronto, Canada 

March 1, 2010 

 

 

 

Comments by auditor for US readers on Canada-US reporting difference 

In the United States, reporting standards for auditors require the addition of an explanatory paragraph 

(following the opinion paragraph) when there is a change in accounting principles that has a material effect 

on the comparability of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, such as the change from the 

adoption of a new accounting standard on January 1, 2009 as described in notes 2 and 12 to the 

consolidated financial statements.  Our report to the shareholders dated March 1, 2010 is expressed in 

accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not require a reference to such a change in 

accounting principles in the Auditors’ Report when the change is properly accounted for and adequately 

disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

 

 

Toronto, Canada 

March 1, 2010 
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FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 
(in thousands of US Dollars, except per share amounts) 

 

    Year   Nine months    Year 

    ended     ended  ended 

   December 31,   December 31,

  

March 31, 

    2009    2008    2008  

       (restated - note 2)    (restated - note 2)  

         

           

Revenues $ 1,703,222   $  1,322,680   $  1,549,713  

           

Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation shown below)  1,062,406     801,421     917,827  

Selling, general and administrative expenses    526,669     406,383     516,091  

Depreciation    26,833     18,814     19,727  

Amortization of intangible assets    17,052     11,229     12,730  

Amortization of brokerage backlog   2,498     1,703     5,216  

Goodwill impairment charge (note 10)   29,583     -     -  

     38,181     83,130     78,122  

Interest expense   13,923     11,107     16,859  

Interest income   (1,417)    (2,855)    (3,472) 

Other income (note 5)   (1,624)    (2,422)    (4,650) 

Realized gain on available-for-sale securities    (4,488)    -     -  

Integrated Security division divesture bonus    -     5,715     -  

Impairment loss on available-for-sale securities    -     14,680     -  

Earnings before income tax    31,787     56,905     69,385  

Income tax (note 15)   39,066     30,878     17,108  

Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations    (7,279)    26,027     52,277  

Net (loss) earnings  from discontinued operations,          

    net of income tax (note 4)  (576)    48,840     (2,829) 

Net (loss) earnings   (7,855)    74,867     49,448  

Non-controlling interest share of earnings (note 12)   4,397     12,831     15,049  

Non-controlling interest redemption increment (note 12)   32,602     (25,161)    67,375  

Net (loss) earnings attributable to Company (note 16) $  (44,854)  $  87,197   $  (32,976) 

Preferred share dividends    10,101     7,760     6,952  

Net (loss) earnings attributable to common shareholders  $  (54,955)  $  79,437   $  (39,928) 

           

Net (loss) earnings per common share (note 17)         

Basic          

   Continuing operations  $  (1.85)  $  0.12   $  0.95  

   Discontinued operations    (0.02)    1.71     (0.03) 

   $  (1.87)  $  1.83   $  0.92  

           

Diluted          

   Continuing operations  $  (1.85)  $  0.11   $  0.89  

   Discontinued operations    (0.02)    1.70     (0.04) 

   $  (1.87)  $  1.81   $  0.85  

                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(in thousands of US Dollars)  

   December 31, 2009  December 31, 2008 

    (restated - note 2) 

Assets      

Current assets          

Cash and cash equivalents  $  99,778   $  79,642  

Restricted cash    5,039     10,240  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $18,307 (December 31,       

    2008 - $12,817)    214,285     175,520  

Income tax recoverable    14,453     18,080  

Inventories (note 6)   9,458     10,572  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets    23,480     20,876  

Deferred income tax (note 15)   15,800     11,718  

Assets held for sale (note 4)   -     14,210  

     382,293     340,858  

Other receivables    6,269     16,832  

Other assets (note 7)   28,058     12,459  

Fixed assets (note 8)   75,939     76,789  

Deferred income tax (note 15)   12,152     10,072  

Intangible assets (note 9)   164,592     178,227  

Goodwill (note 10)   340,227     348,897  

Assets held for sale (note 4)   -     6,503  

     627,237     649,779  

   $  1,009,530   $  990,637  

Liabilities       

Current liabilities       

Accounts payable  $  61,788   $  58,172  

Accrued liabilities (note 6)   207,880     157,820  

Income tax payable    7,665     7,567  

Unearned revenues    21,343     27,600  

Long-term debt – current (note 11)   22,347     20,899  

Deferred income tax (note 15)    -     75  

Liabilities related to assets held for sale (note 4)   -     12,946  

     321,023     285,079  

Long-term debt – non-current (note 11)   213,647     245,470  

Convertible debentures (note 11)  77,000    -  

Other liabilities    27,606     21,832  

Deferred income tax (note 15)  40,052     42,072  

Liabilities related to assets held for sale (note 4)   -     278  

     358,305     309,652  

Non-controlling interests (note 12)   164,168     196,765  
        
Shareholders’ equity       

Preferred shares (note 13)   144,307     144,307  

Common shares (note 13)   90,994     86,913  

Contributed surplus    26,028     25,899  

Deficit    (114,016)    (59,061) 

Accumulated other comprehensive earnings    18,721     1,083  

   166,034     199,141  

   $  1,009,530   $  990,637  

Commitments and contingencies (note 13 and 20)           
             The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
             
On behalf of the Board of Directors,            

/s/ Bernard I. Ghert  /s/ Jay S. Hennick       

Director

  

Director
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FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
(in thousands of US Dollars, except share information) 

 

            Receivables    
   Preferred shares Common shares  pursuant  Accumulated  

   Issued and   Issued and     to share Retained other Total 
   outstanding   outstanding   Contributed purchase earnings comprehensive shareholders’ 
   shares Amount shares Amount surplus plan (deficit) earnings equity 

            
Balance, March 31, 2007   -  $ - 29,922,888  $ 80,108 $ 6,557 $ (1,232) $ 175,346 $ 4,096 $ 264,875 

NCI accounting standard adoption  

    (notes 2, 12) - - - - - - (105,196) (498) (105,694) 

Balance, March 31, 2007(restated 
– note 2) - $ - 29,922,888  $ 80,108 $ 6,557 $ (1,232) $ 70,150 $ 3,598 $ 159,181 
Uncertain tax position accounting 
standard adoption (note 15)  -   -   -   -   -   -   (4,200)  -   (4,200) 

Comprehensive earnings:           

   Net earnings   -   -   -   -   -   -   49,448   -   49,448  

   Foreign currency           

        translation adjustments   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   7,497   7,497  

    Less: amount attributable   

       to NCI   -   -  -   -   -  -  -   (1,063)  (1,063) 

   Re-class to earnings of            

      unrealized loss on available-           

      for-sale equity securities,           

      net of income tax of $20   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (89)  (89) 

Comprehensive earnings           55,793  

NCI share of earnings (note 12)  -   -   -   -   -   -   (15,049)  -   (15,049) 
NCI redemption increment (note 
12)  -   -   -   -   -   -   (67,375)  -   (67,375) 

Subsidiaries’ equity transactions   -   -   -   -   1,634   -   -   -   1,634  

Subordinate Voting Shares:           

   Stock option expense   -   -   -   2,440   3,498   -   -   -   5,938  

   Stock options exercised   -   -   159,550   1,372   (198)  -   -   -   1,174  

   Issued for purchase of NCI   -   -   282,649   5,868   -   -   -   -   5,868  

   Purchased for cancellation   -   -   (252,500)  (869)  -   -   (5,701)  -   (6,570) 

Cash payments received   -   -   -   -   1,644   467   -   -   2,111  

Stock dividend (note 13)  5,979,074   149,477   -   -   -   -   (149,477)  -   -  

Preferred Shares:           

  Dividends   -   -   -   -   -   -   (6,952)  -   (6,952) 

Balance, March 31, 2008 (restated 
– note 2) 5,979,074  149,477  30,112,587  88,919  13,135  (765) (129,156) 9,943  131,553  

Comprehensive earnings:           

   Net earnings   -   -   -   -   -   -   74,867   -   74,867  

   Foreign currency           

        translation adjustments   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (11,222)  (11,222) 

    Less: amount attributable   

       to NCI   -   -  -   -   -  -  -   2,273  2,273  

   Re-class to earnings of            

      unrealized loss on available-           

      for-sale equity securities,           

      net of income tax of $20   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   89   89  

Comprehensive earnings           66,007  

NCI share of earnings (note 12)  -   -   -   -   -   -   (12,831)  -   (12,831) 
NCI redemption increment (note 
12)  -   -   -   -   -   -   25,161   -   25,161  

Subsidiaries’ equity transactions   -   -   -   -   11,268   -   -   -   11,268  

Subordinate Voting Shares:           

   Stock option expense   -   -   -   -   1,723   -   -   -   1,723  

   Stock options exercised   -   -   157,245   1,388   (603)  -   -   -   785  

   Tax benefit on options exercised   -   -   -   -   376   -   -   -   376  

   Issued for purchase of NCI   -   -   23,952   263   -   -   -   -   263  

   Purchased for cancellation   -   -   (960,300)  (3,657)  -   -   (11,123)  -   (14,780) 

Cash payments received   -   -   -   -   -   765   -   -   765  

Preferred Shares:           

   Purchased for cancellation   (206,800)  (5,170)  -   -   -   -   1,781   -   (3,389) 

   Dividends   -   -   -   -   -   -   (7,760)  -   (7,760) 

Balance, December 31, 2008 
(restated – note 2) 5,772,274  $ 144,307  29,333,484  $ 86,913  $ 25,899  $  -  $ (59,061) $ 1,083  $ 199,141  
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FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
(in thousands of US Dollars, except share information)  
   Preferred shares Common shares 

   Issued and
outstanding 

shares Amount 

Issued and
outstanding 

shares Amount 
Contributed 

surplus Deficit 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
earnings 

Total
shareholders’

equity 

Balance, December 31, 2008 
(restated – note 2) 5,772,274  $ 144,307   29,333,484  $ 86,913  $ 25,899  $ (59,061) $ 1,083  $ 199,141  

Comprehensive earnings:          
   Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (7,855)  -   (7,855) 

   Foreign currency  

      translation adjustments   -   -   -   -   -   -   18,339   18,339  

    Less: amount   

        attributable to NCI   -   -   -   -   -   -   (701)  (701) 

Comprehensive earnings          9,783  

NCI share of earnings (note 12)  -   -   -   -   -   (4,397)  -   (4,397) 
NCI redemption increment (note 
12)  -   -   -   -   -   (32,602)  -   (32,602) 

Subsidiaries’ equity   

   transactions   -   -   -   -   (773)  -   -   (773) 

Subordinate Voting Shares:          
  Stock option expense   -   -   -   -   1,833   -   -   1,833  

  Stock options exercised   -   -   246,755   3,645   (1,119)  -   -   2,526  

  Tax benefit on stock options            

      exercised  -   -   -   -  188   -   -  188  

   Issued for purchase of NCI   -   -   44,671   436   -   -   -   436  

Preferred Shares:          
  Dividends   -   -   -   -   -   (10,101)  -   (10,101) 

Balance, December 31, 2009  5,772,274  $ 144,307   29,624,910  $ 90,994  $ 26,028  $ (114,016) $ 18,721  $ 166,034 

                   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(in thousands of US Dollars) 

 

   Year ended    Nine months ended  Year ended 

 December 31,   December 31,  March 31, 

   2009   2008   2008  

    (restated - note 2)  (restated - note 2) 

Cash provided by (used in)        
           
Operating activities               

Net (loss) earnings $  (7,855)   $  74,867    $  49,448  

Net loss (earnings) from discontinued operations    576      (48,840)     2,829  

Items not affecting cash:               

    Depreciation and amortization    46,383      31,746      37,673  

    Goodwill impairment charge    29,583      -      -  

    Deferred income tax    (3,178)     10,125      (19,860) 

    Stock option expense    2,649      1,620      7,446  

    Impairment loss on available-for-sale securities   -      14,680      -  

    Other    87      822      2,446  

Incremental tax benefit on stock options exercised   (188)     (5,184)     -  
                
Changes in non-cash working capital:               

    Accounts receivable    (38,301)     16,584      (23,222) 

    Inventories    1,114      (61)     (915) 

    Prepaid expenses and other assets   (2,614)     1,397      (3,431) 

    Accounts payable    3,383      13,144      1,058  

    Accrued liabilities   49,063      (55,268)     23,409  

    Income taxes    3,271      1,858      (22,095) 

    Unearned revenues    (6,203)     (917)     3,994  

    Other liabilities    5,527      11,622      -  

Discontinued operations    (2,248)     (1,815)     (1,610) 

Net cash provided by operating activities   81,049      66,380      57,170  

                
Investing activities      

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (note 3)   (16,831)     (36,494)     (152,529)

Purchases of non-controlling interests    (42,602)     (38,463)     (6,773) 

Sales of interests in subsidiaries to non-controlling shareholders    356      168      3,294  

Investment in equity securities (note 7)  (13,955)    -     -  

Purchases of fixed assets    (24,234)     (14,719)     (31,624) 

Changes in restricted cash    5,201      (1,381)     8,071  

Other investing activities    2,925      (2,679)     3,790  

Discontinued operations    1,343      153,682      (3,794) 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities    (87,797)     60,114      (179,565) 

                
Financing activities               

Increase in long-term debt   110,162      89,238      206,924  

Repayment of long-term debt    (143,965)     (180,033)     (87,386) 

Issuance of convertible debentures  77,000    -    -  

Financing fees paid    (3,801)     -      (544) 

Proceeds received on exercise of stock options    2,526      785      1,174  

Incremental tax benefit on stock options exercised    188     5,184      -  

Repurchases of Subordinate Voting Shares    -      (14,780)     (6,570) 

Repurchases of Preferred Shares    -      (3,389)     -  

Collection of receivables pursuant to share purchase plan     -      765      467  

Capital contributions     -      -      1,644  

Dividends paid to preferred shareholders    (10,101)    (7,760)     (6,952) 

Distributions paid to non-controlling interests   (13,293)     (11,379)     (6,878) 

Discontinued operations    -      -      (5,184) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   18,716      (121,369)     96,695  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   7,761      (5,742)     2,196  

                
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    19,729      (617)     (23,504) 
                
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    79,642      75,371      97,191  

     Amounts held by discontinued operations    407      5,295      6,979  

   $  80,049     $  80,666    $  104,170  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    99,778      79,642      75,371  

     Amounts held by discontinued operations    -      407      5,295  

   $ 99,778    $  80,049    $  80,666  

                
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FIRSTSERVICE CORPORATION 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(in thousands of US Dollars, except share and per share amounts) 
1. Description of the business 

 
FirstService Corporation (the “Company”) is a provider of real estate-related services to 
commercial, institutional and residential customers in North America and various 
countries around the world.  The Company’s operations are conducted in three 
segments: Commercial Real Estate Services, Residential Property Management and 
Property Services.  The Company reported two former segments in discontinued 
operations: (i) Integrated Security Services segment, which was sold in July 2008 and (ii) 
Business Services segment, which was disposed of in March 2006.  
 
In May 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s 
fiscal year-end from March 31 to December 31.  Accordingly, comparative prior period 
results include the financial statements for the nine-month period ended December 31, 
2008.  See note 23 for unaudited transition period comparative results for the twelve 
month period ended December 31, 2008 and the nine-month period ended December 31, 
2007. 

 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been restated to reflect the retrospective 
adoption of new accounting standards for non-controlling interests (see below). 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period.  The most significant estimates are related to the fair value 
determination of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, 
impairment testing of fair values of goodwill and intangible assets, the collectability of 
accounts receivable and recoverability of deferred income taxes assets.  Actual results 
could be materially different from these estimates.   
 
As of July 1, 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) became the single source for authoritative non-
governmental GAAP in the United States of America and superseded all existing non-
SEC accounting and reporting standards.  All other non-grandfathered non-SEC 
accounting literature not included in the ASC became non-authoritative.  The Company 
adopted the ASC and all references to US GAAP are to the ASC topic number, rather 
than to the previous FASB Statement of Accounting Standards numbers and titles, unless 
a specific standard has not been included in the ASC.  The adoption of the ASC did not 
have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position. 
 
Significant accounting policies are summarized as follows: 
 

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its majority-
owned subsidiaries and those variable interest entities where the Company is the primary 
beneficiary.  Where the Company does not have a controlling interest but has the intent 
and ability to exert significant influence, the equity method is used.  Inter-company 
transactions and accounts are eliminated on consolidation. 
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 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash equivalents consist of short-term interest-bearing securities, which are readily 
convertible into cash and have original maturities at the date of purchase of three months 
or less. 
 
Restricted cash 
Restricted cash consists of cash and cash equivalents over which the Company has legal 
ownership but is restricted as to its availability or intended use, including funds held on 
behalf of clients and franchisees. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and market.  Cost is determined by the 
weighted average or first in, first out methods. 

 

Fixed assets 
Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.  The costs of additions 
and improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed as 
incurred.  Fixed assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Buildings    20 to 40 years straight-line 
Vehicles     3 to 5 years straight-line 
Furniture and equipment  3 to 10 years straight-line 
Computer equipment and software 3 to 5 years straight-line 
Leasehold improvements  term of the lease to a maximum of 10 years 

 
 Investments in securities 

The Company classifies investments in securities as a component of other assets.  
Investments in available-for-sale marketable equity securities are carried at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses included in other comprehensive earnings on an after-tax 
basis.  Investments in other equity securities are accounted for using the equity method 
or cost method, as applicable.  Realized gains or losses and equity earnings or losses 
are recorded in other income.  Equity securities, including marketable equity securities as 
well as those accounted for under the equity method and cost method, are regularly 
reviewed for impairment based on both quantitative and qualitative criteria that include 
the extent to which cost exceeds market value, the duration of the market decline, the 
Company’s intent and ability to hold until forecasted recovery, and the financial health 
and prospects for the issuer.  Other-than-temporary impairment losses on equity 
securities are recorded in current period earnings. 

 
Financial instruments and derivatives 
Derivative financial instruments are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as 
assets or liabilities and carried at fair value.  The Company uses interest rate swaps to 
hedge a portion of its interest rate exposure on long term debt.  Hedge accounting has 
been applied and the swaps are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets, 
with gains or losses recognized in earnings.  The carrying value of the hedged item is 
adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the hedged interest rate risk; the 
associated gain or loss is recognized currently in earnings.  If swaps are terminated, the 
resulting gain or loss is deferred and recognized over the remaining life of the underlying 
item. 
 
The Company adopted a new accounting standard requiring additional disclosure for 
derivatives and hedging activities on January 1, 2009.  The new standard includes 
enhanced disclosures about the Company’s derivative and hedging activities such as the 
objective for using derivative instruments, the method of accounting for derivative 
instruments and related hedged items, and the effect of derivative instruments and 
related hedged items on the Company’s financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows.     
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Fair value 
As of January 1, 2009, the Company began to apply a new accounting standard on fair 
value measurements to all non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or 
disclosed at fair value on a non-recurring basis which is consistent with the fair value 
requirements for financial assets and liabilities.  The adoption of this standard did not 
have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.  
Where required, assets and liabilities are measured using inputs from the three levels of 
the fair value hierarchy.  An asset or liability’s classification within the hierarchy is 
determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.  The three levels are as follows: 
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 – Observable market-based inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities 
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs 

 
Financing fees 
Financing fees related to the revolving credit facility, Senior Notes and Convertible 
Debentures are deferred and amortized to interest expense using the effective interest 
method. 

 
Goodwill and intangible assets 
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed in a business combination and is not subject to amortization. 
 
Intangible assets are recorded at cost and, where lives are finite, are amortized over their 
estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Customer lists and relationships straight-line over 4 to 20 years 
Franchise rights   by pattern of use, currently estimated at 2.5% to 15% per year 
Trademarks and trade names: 

Indefinite life  not amortized 
 Finite life   straight-line over 15 to 35 years  
Management contracts and other straight-line over life of contract ranging from 2 to 15 years 
Brokerage backlog    as underlying brokerage transactions are completed 

 
The Company adopted additional guidance issued to assist in the determination of the 
useful life of intangible assets on January 1, 2009.  The new guidance amends the 
factors used when considering the useful life of recognized intangible assets.  The 
adoption did not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations or 
financial position. 
 
The Company reviews the carrying value of finite life intangible assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset group may not be recoverable from the estimated future cash flows expected to 
result from their use and eventual disposition.  If the sum of the undiscounted expected 
future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset group, an impairment loss 
is recognized.  Measurement of the impairment loss is based on the excess of the 
carrying amount of the asset group over the fair value calculated using discounted 
expected future cash flows. 
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 Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the asset might be impaired, in 
which case the carrying amount of the asset is written down to fair value.  Impairment of 
goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit’s carrying 
amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit.  The Company has eight 
reporting units determined with reference to business segment, customer type, service 
delivery model and geography.  The fair values of the reporting units are estimated using 
a discounted cash flow approach. The fair value measurement is classified in Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, 
then a second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any.  
Certain assumptions are used to determine the fair value of the reporting units, the most 
sensitive of which are estimated future cash flows and the discount rate applied to future 
cash flows. Changes in these assumptions could result in a materially different fair value. 
Impairment of indefinite life intangible assets is tested by comparing the carrying amount 
to fair value on an individual intangible asset basis. 
 
Convertible debentures 
The Company issued Convertible Debentures in November 2009 (see note 11).  The 
Convertible Debentures are accounted for entirely as debt as no portion of the proceeds 
is required to be accounted for as attributable to the conversion feature.  Interest on the 
Convertible Debentures is recorded as interest expense.  The earnings per share impact 
of the Convertible Debentures is calculated using the “if-converted” method, if dilutive, 
where coupon interest expense, net of tax, is added to the numerator and the number of 
potentially issuable common shares is added to the denominator. 
 
Non-controlling interests 
On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted new accounting standards for non-controlling 
interests (“NCI”). Except for earnings per share calculations, all presentation and 
disclosure requirements of were adopted retrospectively, and as a result the Company 
recorded an increase to NCI of $105,694 (see note 12) and a corresponding decrease to 
shareholders’ equity as of April 1, 2007.  As a result of retrospective adoption, all periods 
presented have been restated for the effect of the adoption of this standard, however 
consistent with the transition provisions the Company presented the effect of the adoption 
of these standards on earnings per share prospectively, effective January 1, 2009. 
 
The NCI are considered to be redeemable securities and accordingly, the NCI is 
recorded at the greater of (i) the redemption amount or (ii) the amount initially recorded 
as NCI at the date of inception of the minority equity position.   This amount is recorded in 
the “mezzanine” section of the balance sheet, outside of shareholders’ equity.  Changes 
in the NCI amount are recognized immediately as they occur.   
 
Revenue recognition and unearned revenues 
(a) Real estate brokerage operations 
Commission revenues from sales brokerage transactions are recognized at the time the 
service has been provided and the commission becomes legally due, except when future 
contingencies exist.  In most cases, close of escrow or transfer of title is a future 
contingency, and accordingly revenue recognition is deferred until this contingency is 
satisfied. 
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 Commission revenues from real estate leasing are recognized once obligations under the 
commission arrangement are satisfied.  Terms and conditions of a commission 
arrangement generally include execution of the lease agreement and satisfaction of 
future contingencies such as tenant occupancy.  In most cases, a portion of the 
commission is earned upon execution of the lease agreement, with the remaining portion 
contingent on a future event, typically tenant occupancy; revenue recognition for the 
remaining portion is deferred until all contingencies are satisfied. 
 
(b) Franchisor operations 
The Company operates several franchise systems within its Property Services segment.  
Initial franchise fees are recognized when all material services or conditions related to the 
sale of the franchise have been performed or satisfied.  Royalty revenues are recognized 
based on a contracted percentage of franchisee revenues, as reported by the 
franchisees.  Revenues from administrative and other support services, as applicable, 
are recognized as the services are provided. 
 
(c) Service operations other than real estate brokerage and franchisor operations 
Revenues are recognized at the time the service is rendered.  Certain services including 
but not limited to real estate project management and appraisal projects in process, are 
recognized on the percentage of completion method, generally in the ratio of actual costs 
to total estimated contract costs.  In cases where anticipated costs to complete a project 
exceed the revenue to be recognized, a provision for the additional estimated losses is 
recorded in the period when the loss becomes apparent.  Amounts received from 
customers in advance of services being provided are recorded as unearned revenues 
when received.  

 
Stock-based compensation 
For equity classified awards, compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on 
the estimated fair value of the award.  The related stock option compensation expense is 
allocated using the graded attribution method.  For liability classified awards, the fair 
value of the award is measured each period it is outstanding and changes in fair value 
are recorded as compensation expense. 
 
Notional value appreciation plans 
Under these plans, subsidiary employees are compensated if the notional value of the 
subsidiary increases.  Awards under these plans generally have a ten year term and vest 
after five years.  The increase in notional value is calculated with reference to growth in 
earnings relative to a fixed threshold amount plus or minus changes in indebtedness 
relative to a fixed opening amount.  The calculation is designed to motivate and reward 
employees to grow earnings and repay indebtedness and is not measured by or linked to 
the growth in value of the subsidiary’s stock.  If an award is subject to a vesting condition, 
then graded attribution is applied to the intrinsic value.  The related compensation 
expense is recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses and the liability is 
recorded in accrued liabilities. 

 
Foreign currency translation 
Assets, liabilities and operations of foreign subsidiaries are recorded based on the 
functional currency of each entity.  For certain foreign operations, the functional currency 
is the local currency, in which case the assets, liabilities and operations are translated at 
current exchange rates from the local currency to the reporting currency, the US dollar.  
The resulting unrealized gains or losses are reported as a component of cumulative other 
comprehensive earnings.  Realized and unrealized foreign currency gains or losses 
related to any foreign dollar denominated monetary assets and liabilities are included in 
net earnings. 
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 Income tax 
Income tax has been provided using the liability method whereby deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future income tax consequences of 
events that have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements or income tax 
returns.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted income 
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in income tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period in which 
the change occurs.  A valuation allowance is recorded unless it is more likely than not 
that realization of a deferred income tax asset will occur. 

 
On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted new accounting standards for accounting for 
uncertainty in income tax. This standard prescribes a recognition threshold and 
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax 
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.  
 
Income tax is not provided on the unremitted earnings of US and foreign subsidiaries 
because it has been the practice and is the intention of the Company to reinvest these 
earnings indefinitely in these subsidiaries.  
 
The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with income tax positions in 
income tax expense. 

 
 

3. Acquisitions 
 
The Company adopted a new accounting standard for business combinations on January 
1, 2009.  The new standard prospectively changes the manner in which business 
acquisitions are accounted for.  The following are key requirements for acquisitions 
completed under the standard: (i) transaction costs are expensed; (ii) contingent 
consideration is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date; and (iii) the fair value of 
contingent consideration is re-measured each period.  This standard is not applicable to 
acquisitions where control is not obtained. 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 acquisitions: 
The Company completed three individually insignificant acquisitions in the Residential 
Property Management and Property Services operating segments during the year ended 
December 31, 2009.  Details of these acquisitions are as follows: 
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Aggregate 

acquisitions 

      

  Current assets $ 253  

  Long-term assets  357  

  Current liabilities  (543) 

  Long-term liabilities  (472) 

      

  Non-controlling interest  (318) 

      

      (723) 

    

  Note consideration $ 420  

  Cash consideration $ 4,467  

  
Acquisition date fair value of 
contingent consideration $ 949  

      

  Acquired intangible assets  3,448  

  Goodwill  3,111  

 
The fair value of the non-controlling interest was determined using an income approach 
with reference to a discounted fair cash flow model using the same assumptions implied 
in determining the purchase consideration.  Acquisition-related costs of $54 were 
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.   

 
Nine months ended December 31, 2008 acquisitions: 
The Company completed six individually insignificant acquisitions across the three 
operating segments during the nine-month period ended December 31, 2008.  The 
Company acquired non-controlling interests from shareholders in all operating segments. 

 
Details of these acquisitions are as follows: 

 
          Purchases of 

  non-controlling 

  shareholders’ 

    
Aggregate 

acquisitions interests 

         

  Current assets $  7,897   $  -  

  Long-term assets   286     619  

  Current liabilities   (3,919)   - 

  Long-term liabilities   (1,901)    (5,447) 

         

  Non-controlling interest   (2,472)    8,398  

         

      (109)    3,570  

  Subordinate Voting Share   

      consideration $  -  $  263  

  Cash consideration $  31,760   $  38,463  

         

  Acquired intangible assets   13,652     17,149  

  Goodwill   18,217     18,007  

 

51



Year ended March 31, 2008 acquisitions: 
On October 1, 2007, the Company acquired 80% of the shares of Field Asset Services, 
Inc., a provider of property services to foreclosed residential properties on behalf of its 
financial institution clients, headquartered in Austin, Texas.  The Company also 
completed 14 individually insignificant acquisitions in its Commercial Real Estate 
Services, Residential Property Management and Property Services segments during the 
year ended March 31, 2008.  The Company acquired non-controlling interests from 
shareholders in all operating segments. 

 
Details of the acquisition allocations are as follows: 

  
Purchases of 

non-controlling

  shareholders’ 

    
Field Asset

Services, Inc. 

 

Aggregate other 
acquisitions 

 

 interests 

            

  Current assets $  9,012   $  26,894   $  92  

  Long-term assets   564     9,052     (695) 

  Current liabilities   (10,855)    (41,135)    (276) 

  Long-term liabilities   -     (16,880)    (2,321) 

            

  Non-controlling interest   (89)    (3,109)    4,253  

            

      (1,368)    (25,178)    1,053  

  Subordinate Voting Share    

      consideration $  -   $  -   $  5,868  

  Cash consideration $  43,337   $  102,226   $  6,773  

            

  Acquired intangible assets   22,080     59,277     6,069  

  Goodwill   22,625     68,127     5,519  

 
The purchase prices of acquisitions resulted in the recognition of goodwill.  The primary 
factors contributing to goodwill are assembled workforces, synergies with existing 
operations and future growth prospects.  For acquisitions completed during the year 
ended December 31, 2009, goodwill in the amount of $1,929 is deductible for income tax 
purposes (nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 - $9,575; year ended March 31, 
2008 - $49,410). 
 
Certain vendors, at the time of acquisition, are entitled to receive contingent 
consideration if the acquired businesses achieve specified earnings levels during the 
one- to four-year periods following the dates of acquisition.  For acquisitions made after 
December 31, 2008, contingent consideration was recorded at fair value on the date of 
acquisition and totaled $949.  Such contingent consideration is paid in cash at the 
expiration of the contingency period.  The fair value as at December 31, 2009 was $962. 
 
The contingent consideration on pre-January 1, 2009 acquisitions is recorded when the 
contingencies are resolved and the consideration is paid or becomes payable, at which 
time the Company records the fair value of the consideration paid or payable, including 
interest, if any, as additional costs of the acquired businesses.  Total contingent 
consideration recognized for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $10,513, net of 
income tax of $60 (nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 - $10,242, net of 
income tax of nil; year ended March 31, 2008 - $2,864, net of income tax of $1).  
Contingent consideration paid during the year ended December 31, 2009 was 
$12,364 (nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 - $4,734; year ended March 31, 
2008 - $6,848) and the amount payable as at December 31, 2009 was $2,432 
(December 31, 2008 - $5,508).   
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As at December 31, 2009, there was contingent consideration outstanding of up to a 
maximum of $23,400 (December 31, 2008 - $51,800) in respect of both pre- and post-
January 1, 2009 acquisitions.  The contingencies will expire during the period extending 
to February 2012.   
 
The acquisitions referred to above were accounted for by the purchase method of 
accounting for business combinations. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated 
statements of earnings do not include any revenues or expenses related to these 
acquisitions prior to their respective closing dates.  The consideration for the acquisitions 
during the year ended December 31, 2009 was financed from cash on hand. 
 
Following are the Company’s unaudited consolidated pro forma results assuming the 
acquisitions occurred on the first day of the period of acquisition.  The period immediately 
prior to the period of acquisition also includes the pro forma results of the acquisitions. 
 

 

(Unaudited) 

Year ended  
December 31, 

2009  

Nine months 
ended  

December 31, 
 2008 

     
 Pro forma revenues $ 1,711,901  $ 1,367,143 
 Pro forma net earnings from continuing operations (7,077)  27,430 
     
 Pro forma net earnings per share from continuing operations    
      Basic $ (1.84)  $ 1.08 
      Diluted (1.84)  1.06 

 

These unaudited consolidated pro forma results have been prepared for illustrative 
purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of results of operations that would have 
actually resulted had the combinations been in effect at the beginning of each period or of 
future results of operations. 

 

4. Dispositions 
 
In July 2008, the Company completed the sale of the businesses comprising its 
Integrated Security Services (“ISS”) segment.  As a condition to closing, the Company 
was required to acquire the non-controlling interests of its non-wholly owned ISS 
subsidiaries.  The Company received aggregate cash consideration of $162,385 
($155,031 net of cash sold).  The pre-tax gain on the disposal was $80,497, before 
current income taxes of $10,788, resulting in a net gain of $69,709.  The net gain on 
disposal included the realization of a gain of $6,792 related to cumulative foreign 
currency translation.  The ISS segment has been reported as discontinued operations for 
all periods presented.   Included in discontinued operations for the year ended December 
31, 2009 was an after-tax gain of $791 on the final settlement of ISS working capital. 
 
In December 2008, the Company decided to sell its Chicago-based US mortgage 
brokerage and servicing operation (“USMB”) due to adverse credit market conditions.  
USMB was previously reported within the Commercial Real Estate Services segment.  
The Company wrote the net assets of USMB down to fair value less cost to sell as of 
December 31, 2008, with a loss in the amount of $11,021, which included a deferred 
income tax valuation allowance of $1,501.  In May 2009, the Company completed the 
sale of USMB and received aggregate consideration of $2,000.  The after-tax loss on the 
disposal for 2009 was $367 (net of income taxes of nil).  USMB has been reported as 
discontinued operations for all periods presented.    
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In January 2008, the Company decided to exit its Canadian commercial mortgage 
securitization operation (“CCMS”) due to adverse credit market conditions.  CCMS was 
previously reported within the Commercial Real Estate Services segment.  The exit was 
complete as of March 31, 2008 except for the disposal of the remaining mortgage loans 
receivable.  The last remaining mortgage assets were disposed of in 2009.  This 
operation has been reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented. 
 
In March 2006, the Company sold its 88.3% interest in Resolve Corporation (“Resolve”), 
its Business Services segment, to a subsidiary of Resolve Business Outsourcing Income 
Fund (“RBO Fund”) upon the initial public offering of RBO Fund.  Resolve is reported as 
discontinued operations for all periods presented.  During the year ended March 31, 
2008, a gain was recognized in connection with the settlement of a liability related to the 
Resolve disposal.  The settlement resulted in a cash payment to the purchaser of the 
disposed operation in the amount of $1,036 and a gain on settlement in the amount of 
$2,265 (including an income tax benefit of $187).  

 

  The operating results of the discontinued operations are as follows:        
                      

      
  

Year ended  
  

  
Nine months 

ended 
  

  Year ended 

    Operating results  December 31   December 31   March 31  

        2009      2008      2008  

                      

    Revenues                 

      ISS $ -      $  47,158    $  208,430  

      USMB   4,438      8,840       23,502  

      CCMS   623      (6,407)      (9,064) 

         5,061      49,591      222,868  

                      

    Operating loss before income taxes               

      ISS $     $  1,683    $  11,110  

      USMB   (831)      (7,141)      (4,664) 

      CCMS   580       (5,852)     (12,761) 

      Resolve   -      -      2,078  

         (251)      (11,310)      (4,237) 

    Provision for (recovery of) for income taxes   749       (1,462)      (1,408) 

    Net operating (loss) earnings from discontinued                  

       operations    (1,000)      (9,848)      (2,829) 

    Net gain on disposal of ISS (after tax)   791        69,709      - 

    Net loss on disposal of USMB (after tax)   (367)     (11,021)     - 

    
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued 
operations $  (576)   $  48,840    $  (2,829) 

                      

    
Net earnings (loss) per share from discontinued 
operations                 

           Basic $ (0.02)   $  1.71    $  (0.03) 

           Diluted   (0.02)      1.70       (0.04) 
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The assets and liabilities of USMB and CCMS at December 31, 2008 were classified as held for 
sale as follows: 
 
    Balance sheets    USMB CCMS Total 

                

    Assets held for sale           

    Cash and cash equivalents   $  406  $ 1 $ 407 

    Accounts receivable, net      714   -  714 

  Mortgage loans receivable   -    12,679  12,679 

    Fixed assets      594   -  594 

    Intangible assets      1,886   -  1,886 

  Deferred income taxes   -    3,945  3,945 

    Other      294   194  488 

    Total   $  3,894  $ 16,819 $ 20,713 

                

    Liabilities held for sale           

    Accrued liabilities   $  1,790  $ -  $ 1,790 

  Interest rate derivative contracts   -    10,820  10,820 

    Other      278   336  614 

    Total   $  2,068  $ 11,156 $ 13,224 

 

 
5. Other income 
 
 
     Year   Nine months    Year 

   ended   ended ended 

   December 31,   December 31,   March 31, 

    2009    2008    2008  

                    

  Earnings from equity method investments $  1,548   $  1,268   $  2,292  

  Earnings from available-for-sale securities   -    207    2,006  

  Other   76    947    352  

    $  1,624   $  2,422   $  4,650  

 
 
6. Components of working capital accounts  
 
      December 31,   December 31, 

      2009    2008  

              

  Inventories          

    Work-in-progress $ 3,367   $  4,465  

    Finished goods  2,264    2,797  

    Supplies and other  3,827    3,310  

      $  9,458   $  10,572  

           
  Accrued liabilities      

    Accrued payroll, commission and benefits  $ 141,248   $  107,756  

    Accrued interest  2,851     2,160  

    Customer advances  3,566     3,161  

    Contingent consideration  2,432     5,508  

    Other  57,783     39,235  

      $  207,880   $ 157,820  
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7. Other assets 
 
      December 31,   December 31, 

      2009    2008  

                

              

  Equity method investments $   19,034    $  2,703  

  Financing fees, net of accumulated amortization of            

    $3,936 (December 31, 2008 - $1,655)   4,710       1,223  

  Available-for-sale equity securities  -        2,720  

  Held-to-maturity debt securities   -       2,446  

  Other   4,314       3,367  

      $  28,058    $ 12,459  

 
The Company’s available-for-sale equity securities at December 31, 2008 consisted of 
securities of a subsidiary of RBO Fund (see note 4) which were sold during the year.  
During the nine-month period ended December 31, 2008, the Company’s available-for-
sale securities were determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired and a non-cash 
charge of $14,680 ($12,038 net of income taxes) was recorded in the statement of 
earnings as of December 31, 2008. 
 
In October 2009, the Company acquired 29.99% of the shares of Colliers CRE plc, a 
publicly traded commercial real estate business in the United Kingdom.  The shares are 
included in equity method investments.  The cost of the shares was $13,955 and as at 
December 31, 2009, the market value of the investment was $14,200.   

 
 

8. Fixed assets  
  
  December 31, 2009       Accumulated       

    Cost   depreciation   Net 

                    

  Land $ 3,070   $  -   $ 3,070  

  Buildings   13,114    3,197     9,917  

  Vehicles    22,817    16,112     6,705  

  Furniture and equipment  53,005    32,264     20,741  

  Computer equipment and software   62,619    37,186    25,433  

  Leasehold improvements  29,208    19,135    10,073  

    $ 183,833   $ 107,894   $  75,939  

            
            

  December 31, 2008    Accumulated    

    Cost  depreciation  Net 

            

  Land $  3,070   $  -   $  3,070  

  Buildings   11,683     2,717     8,966  

  Vehicles    22,158     14,842     7,316  

  Furniture and equipment   51,713     28,678     23,035  

  Computer equipment and software   47,457     25,100     22,357  

  Leasehold improvements   27,814     15,769     12,045  

    $  163,895   $  87,106   $  76,789  
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Included in fixed assets are vehicles, office and computer equipment under capital lease 
at a cost of $11,182 (December 31, 2008 - $11,750) and net book value of $4,364 
(December 31, 2008 - $4,773).   

 
 
9. Intangible assets  
 
  December 31, 2009   Gross             

      carrying   Accumulated       

    amount   amortization   Net 

                    

  Customer lists and relationships $ 115,139   $  34,740   $  80,399  

  Franchise rights   38,887    11,313    27,574  

  Trademarks and trade names:         

        Indefinite life   20,907    -     20,907  

        Finite life   36,526     6,108     30,418  

  Management contracts and other   12,179     6,943     5,236  

  Brokerage backlog   1,207     1,149     58  

    $  224,845   $  60,253   $  164,592  

                    
                    

  December 31, 2008   Gross             

      carrying   Accumulated       

    amount   amortization   Net 

                    

  Customer lists and relationships $  115,585   $  23,157   $  92,428  

  Franchise rights   34,266     9,154     25,112  

  Trademarks and trade names:         

        Indefinite life   20,907     -     20,907  

        Finite life   35,369     4,425     30,944  

  Management contracts and other   10,641     4,285     6,356  

  Brokerage backlog   7,054     4,574     2,480  

    $  223,822   $  45,595   $  178,227  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company acquired the following 
intangible assets: 

 

 Amount  

Estimated 
weighted 
average 

amortization 
period (years) 

     
    Customer lists and relationships $      2,528   11.7 
    Franchise rights 528  18.9 
    Trademarks and trade names 500  20.0 
    Management contracts 132  11.2 
   

$      3,688  
 

13.8 
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The following is the estimated annual amortization expense for recorded intangible assets 
for each of the next five years ending December 31: 
 

 2010 $ 15,831 
 2011 14,988 
 2012 14,139 
 2013 13,316 
 2014 11,855 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, charges of $1,491 (nine-month period ended 
December 31, 2008 - $275; year ended March 31, 2008 - $1,149) were recognized in 
connection with impairments of intangible assets.  In all three periods, the impairments 
were attributable to faster than expected erosion of customer relationships in the 
Commercial Real Estate and Residential Property Management segments.  The charges 
were recorded in amortization expense.  The fair values of the intangible assets and the 
asset groups they are components of were estimated using discounted expected future 
cash flows. The fair value measurement is classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
as a result of the use of unobservable inputs including expected future cash flows and a 
discount rate. 

 
 

10. Goodwill 
 
      Commercial   Residential             

      Real Estate   Property   Property    

    Services  Management  Services  Consolidated 

                            

Balance, March 31, 2008  $  134,496   $  107,823   $  69,094   $  311,413  

Adjustments to goodwill resulting from adjustments to               

  purchase price allocations     (1,838)    633     4,500     3,295  

Adjustments to goodwill resulting from adjustments to               

  deferred tax position on prior acquisitions     -     (2,872)    -     (2,872) 

Goodwill resulting from contingent acquisition              

  consideration    1,898     6,477     -     8,375  

Goodwill resulting from purchases of non-controlling              

  interests    4,842     10,024     3,141     18,007  

Goodwill acquired during period    16,681     297     1,239     18,217  

Foreign exchange    (7,391)    (62)    (85)    (7,538) 

Balance, December 31, 2008    148,688     122,320     77,889     348,897  

Adjustments to goodwill resulting from adjustments to              

  purchase price allocations      (516)   253    -   (263) 

Goodwill resulting from contingent acquisition              

  consideration    -    2,593    7,920     10,513  

Goodwill acquired during period      -    2,853     258     3,111  

Goodwill impairment loss      (29,583)    -     -     (29,583) 

Foreign exchange     6,913    52    587    7,552  

Balance, December 31, 2009     125,502    128,071    86,654     340,227  

  Goodwill     155,085    128,071    86,654    369.810  

  Accumulated impairment losses      (29,583)    -     -     (29,583) 

      $  125,502   $  128,071   $  86,654   $  340,227  

 
A test for goodwill impairment is required to be completed annually, in the Company’s 
case as of August 1, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the asset might be impaired.   
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During the year, the Company was required to perform goodwill impairment tests due to a 
continuing deterioration of economic conditions negatively impacting the performance of 
the Commercial Real Estate segment. The Company determined that there were 
impairments in the North America and Central Europe & Latin America reporting units 
within the segment driven by adverse economic conditions and sharply reduced 
brokerage activity. The fair values of the reporting units were determined using 
discounted cash flow models, which fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and is 
based on management’s forecast and current economic trends.  The amount of the 
impairment loss related to the two reporting units was $29,583 (net of income tax of nil).   
 
Based on the August 1, 2009 annual test, no other goodwill impairments were identified.  
If, in future periods, weak economic conditions persist and operating results deteriorate, a 
further goodwill impairment charge may be necessary. 
 
Goodwill in the amount of $10,682 related to the USMB discontinued operation was 
written off as of December 31, 2008. 

 
 

11. Long-term debt and convertible debentures 
 
      December 31,   December 31, 

      2009    2008  

              

  Revolving credit facility $ 47,000    $  62,482  

  8.06% Senior Notes   28,570      42,856  

  6.40% Senior Notes   50,000      50,000  

  5.44% Senior Notes   100,000      100,000  

 Adjustment to Senior  Notes resulting from interest       

         rate swaps  (1,307)    -  

  Capital leases bearing interest ranging from 5% to 10%,         

    maturing at various dates through 2013  3,821      4,460  

  Other long-term debt bearing interest at 4% to 10%,        

    maturing at various dates through 2014  7,910      6,571  

      235,994      266,369  

  Less: current portion  22,347      20,899  

  Long-term debt – non-current   $ 213,647    $  245,470  

 Convertible debentures   77,000     -  

   $ 290,647   $  245,470  

 
On September 6, 2007, the Company entered into an amended and restated credit 
agreement with a syndicate of banks to provide a $225,000 committed revolving credit 
facility with a five-year term.  The amended revolving credit facility bears interest at 
0.75% to 1.30% over floating reference rates, depending on certain leverage ratios 
determined quarterly.  The weighted average interest rate for 2009 was 1.3%.  The 
revolving credit facility had $142,728 of available un-drawn credit as at December 31, 
2009 ($134,236 was un-drawn at December 31, 2008).  As of December 31, 2009, letters 
of credit in the amount of $12,772 were outstanding ($5,782 as at December 31, 2008).  
The revolving credit facility requires a commitment fee of 0.25% to 0.50% of the unused 
portion, depending on certain leverage ratios, and also includes an uncommitted 
accordion provision providing an additional $50,000 of borrowing capacity under certain 
circumstances.   
 
The Company has outstanding $28,570 of 8.06% fixed-rate Senior Notes (the “8.06% 
Notes”) (December 31, 2008 - $42,856).  The 8.06% Notes have a final maturity of June 
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29, 2011, with seven equal annual principal repayments, which began on June 29, 2005.  
The Company also has outstanding $50,000 of 6.40% fixed-rate Senior Notes (the 
“6.40% Notes”).  The 6.40% Notes have a final maturity of September 30, 2015 with four 
equal annual principal repayments commencing on September 30, 2012.  The Company 
also has outstanding $100,000 of 5.44% fixed-rate Senior Notes (the “5.44% Notes”).  
The 5.44% Notes have a final maturity of April 1, 2015 with five equal annual principal 
repayments beginning on April 1, 2011.   

 
The Company has indemnified the holders of the 8.06% Notes, 6.40% Notes and 5.44% 
Notes (collectively, the “Notes”) from all withholding tax that is or may become applicable 
to any payments made by the Company on the Notes.  The Company believes this 
exposure is not material as of December 31, 2009. 
 
The revolving credit facility and the Notes rank equally in terms of seniority.  The 
Company has granted these lenders collateral including the following: an interest in all of 
the assets of the Company including the Company’s shares of its subsidiaries; an 
assignment of material contracts; and an assignment of the Company’s “call” rights with 
respect to shares of the subsidiaries held by non-controlling interests.  The Convertible 
Debentures are subordinate to the revolving credit facility and the Notes and are 
unsecured. 
 
The covenants of the revolving credit facility and the Notes agreements require the 
Company to maintain certain ratios including leverage, fixed charge coverage, interest 
coverage and net worth.  The Company is prohibited from undertaking certain mergers, 
acquisitions and dispositions without prior approval. 
 
In November 2009, the Company issued $77,000 principal amount of 6.50% Convertible 
Unsecured Subordinate Debentures (“Convertible Debentures”) in a public offering.  The 
Convertible Debentures have a final maturity of December 31, 2014 and were issued at 
par.  At the holder’s option, the Convertible Debentures may be converted at any time 
prior to maturity into Subordinate Voting Shares based on an initial conversion rate of 
approximately 35.7143 common shares per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible 
Debentures (which represents an initial conversion price of $28.00 per share).  The 
Company may also, at its option, redeem the Convertible Debentures at any time on or 
after December 31, 2012.  For redemptions between December 31, 2012 and December 
30, 2013, the Convertible Debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part provided that 
the 20-day volume weighted average trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares is 
not less than 125% of the conversion price.  For redemptions after December 31, 2013 
and prior to maturity, redemption, in whole or in part, will be at par plus accrued and 
unpaid interest. 
 
Subject to specified conditions, the Company has the right to repay the outstanding 
principal amount of the Convertible Debentures, on maturity or redemption, through the 
issuance of Subordinate Voting Shares.  The Company also has the option to satisfy its 
obligation to pay interest through the issuance and sale of Subordinate Voting Shares.  
The Convertible Debentures are unsecured and contain no financial ratio covenants. 
 
In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Debentures, the Company incurred 
financing costs of $3,603 which will be amortized over five years using the effective 
interest rate method.   
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The effective interest rate on the Company’s long-term debt and Convertible Debentures 
for the year ended December 31, 2009 was 4.7% (year ended December 31, 2008 - 
5.4%).  The estimated aggregate amount of principal repayments on long-term debt 
required in each of the next five years ending December 31 and thereafter to meet the 
retirement provisions are as follows: 

 
 2010 $   22,347  
 2011 36,292 
 2012 80,076 
 2013 32,696 
 2014 109,527 
 Thereafter 33,363 

 
 
12. Non-controlling interests 
 

The minority equity positions in the Company’s subsidiaries are referred to as non-
controlling interests (“NCI”).  The NCI are considered to be redeemable securities.  
Accordingly, the NCI is recorded at the greater of (i) the redemption amount or (ii) the 
amount initially recorded as NCI at the date of inception of the minority equity position.  
This amount is recorded in the “mezzanine” section of the balance sheet, outside of 
shareholders’ equity.  Changes in the NCI amount are recognized immediately as they 
occur.  The following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending NCI 
amounts:  

 

   Year  Nine months   Year 

   ended   ended   ended 

  December 31,  December 31,  March 31, 

   2009    2008    2008  

               

Balance, March 31, 2007, as previously presented       $  48,306  

Adjustment on adoption of new accounting standard         105,694  

Balance, beginning of period $  196,765   $  232,600     154,000  

NCI share of earnings  4,397     12,831     15,049  

NCI share of other comprehensive earnings   701     (2,273)   1,063  

NCI redemption increment   32,602     (25,161)    67,375  

Distributions paid to NCI   (13,293)    (11,379)    (6,930) 

Purchases of interests from NCI, net  (57,322)    (12,361)    (1,748) 

NCI recognized upon business acquisitions   318     2,508     3,791  

Balance, end of period $  164,168   $  196,765   $  232,600  

 
The Company has shareholders’ agreements in place at each of its non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries.  These agreements allow the Company to “call” the non-controlling interest 
at a price determined with the use of a formula price, which is usually equal to a fixed 
multiple of average annual net earnings before extraordinary items, income taxes, 
interest, depreciation, and amortization.  The agreements also have redemption features 
which allow the owners of the NCI to “put” their equity to the Company at the same price 
subject to certain limitations.  The formula price is referred to as the redemption amount 
and may be paid in cash or in Subordinate Voting Shares.  The redemption amount as of 
December 31, 2009 was $156,787.  If all put or call options were settled with 
Subordinated Voting Shares as at December 31, 2009, approximately 8,300,000 such 
shares would be issued. 
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13. Capital stock 
 

The authorized capital stock of the Company is as follows: 
 

An unlimited number of Preferred Shares, issuable in series; 
An unlimited number of Subordinate Voting Shares having one vote per share; 
and  
An unlimited number of Multiple Voting Shares having 20 votes per share, 
convertible at any time into Subordinate Voting Shares at a rate of one 
Subordinate Voting Share for each Multiple Voting Share outstanding. 

 
The following table provides a summary of total capital stock issued and outstanding: 
 

 Preferred Shares Subordinate Voting Shares Multiple Voting Shares Total Common Shares 
 Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount 
         
Balance, December 31, 2008  5,772,274 144,307 28,007,790 86,540 1,325,694 373 29,333,484 86,913 
Balance, December 31, 2009  5,772,274 144,307 28,299,216 90,621 1,325,694 373 29,624,910 90,994 

 
In August 2007, the Company issued a stock dividend in the form of 7% Cumulative 
Preference Shares, Series 1 (the “Preferred Shares”) to holders of Subordinate Voting 
Shares and Multiple Voting Shares (together the “Common Shares”).  One Preferred 
Share was issued for every five outstanding Common Shares.  The stock dividend 
resulted in the issuance of 5,979,074 Preferred Shares, with an aggregate par value of 
$149,477.  Each Preferred Share has a stated amount of $25.00.  Preferred dividends 
are payable quarterly on or about the last day of each quarter. 
  
As at December 31, 2009, the Company may redeem each Preferred Share for $25.50 
payable in cash, or alternatively the Company may convert each Preferred Share into 
Subordinate Voting Shares based on a price of $25.50.  The redemption or conversion 
price is scheduled to decline in annual increments of $0.25 such that the price will be 
fixed at $25.00 on and after August 1, 2011.  Holders of the Preferred Shares have no 
redemption or conversion rights. 

 

  
The following table provides the pro forma impact on diluted earnings per common 
share of the preferred dividends on the comparative periods. 

                        

        Year   Nine months   Year 
      ended   ended ended

      December 31,   December 31,   March 31,

        2009    2008    2008  

  Diluted earnings per common share from                  

    continuing operations:         

    As reported $ (1.87)  $  0.11   $  0.89  

    Impact of preferred dividends on          

      comparative periods   -     -     (0.12) 

    Pro forma $ (1.87)  $  0.11   $  0.77  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2009 no Subordinate Voting Shares were 
repurchased (nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 - 960,300; year ended March 
31, 2008 - 252,500) for cancellation under a Normal Course Issuer Bid filed with the 
Toronto Stock Exchange, which allows the Company to repurchase up to 5% of its 
outstanding shares on the open market during a twelve-month period. The repurchase 
cost is allocated to common shares for the weighted average book value and to retained 
earnings for any excess. 
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  During the year ended December 31, 2009, no Preferred Shares were repurchased 
(nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 - 206,800; year ended March 31, 2008 - 
nil) for cancellation under a Normal Course Issuer Bid filed with the Toronto Stock 
Exchange, which allows the Company to repurchase up to 5% of its outstanding shares 
on the open market during a twelve-month period. The repurchase cost is allocated to 
preferred shares for the weighted average book value and to retained earnings for any 
deficiency. 

      

 Pursuant to an agreement approved in February 2004, the Company agreed that it will 
make payments to its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) that are contingent upon the arm’s 
length sale of control of the Company or upon a distribution of the Company’s assets to 
shareholders.  The payment amounts will be determined with reference to the price per 
Subordinate Voting Share received by shareholders upon an arm’s length sale or upon a 
distribution of assets.  The right to receive the payments may be transferred among 
members of the CEO’s family, their holding companies and trusts.  The agreement 
provides for the CEO to receive each of the following two payments.  The first payment is 
an amount equal to 5% of the product of: (i) the total number of Subordinate and Multiple 
Voting Shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis at the time of the sale and (ii) the per 
share consideration received by holders of Subordinate and Multiple Voting Shares 
minus a base price of C$5.675.  The second payment is an amount equal to 5% of the 
product of (i) the total number of shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis at the time of 
the sale and (ii) the per share consideration received by holders of Subordinate Voting 
Shares minus a base price of C$11.05. 

 
 

14. Stock-based compensation 
 
The Company incurred stock-based compensation expense of $5,424 during the year 
ended December 31, 2009 ($2,551 for the nine months ended December 31, 2008; 
$7,819 for the year ended March 31, 2008). 

 
Company stock option plan  
The Company has a stock option plan for certain officers and key full-time employees of 
the Company and its subsidiaries, other than its CEO.  Options are issued at the market 
price for the underlying shares on the date of grant.  Each option vests over a four-year 
term and expires five years from the date granted and allows for the purchase of one 
Subordinate Voting Share.  All Subordinate Voting Shares issued under the plan are new 
shares.  As at December 31, 2009, there were 533,000 options available for future grants 
(December 31, 2008 - 854,000; March 31, 2008 – 338,000). 
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Grants under the Company’s stock option plan are equity classified awards.  Stock option 
activity for the year ended March 31, 2008, nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 
and year ended December 31, 2009 was as follows: 

    
Number of 

options  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price  

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual life 

(years)  

Aggregate 
intrinsic 

value 

  Shares issuable under options –   

     March 31, 2007 

  

 1,445,550   $ 14.12  

 

 

 

 

  Granted    175,500    32.24       

  Exercised    (159,550)   7.28       

  Forfeited    (7,500)    27.81       

  Shares issuable under options –   

     March 31, 2008 

  

 1,454,000    16.94  

 

 

 

 

  Granted    349,000    17.10       

  Exercised    (157,245)   4.76       

  Forfeited    (65,000)    15.54       

  Shares issuable under options –   

     December 31, 2008 

  

 1,580,755    18.24  

 

 

 

 

  Granted   321,000    11.85       

  Exercised    (246,755)   10.11       

  Forfeited   -     -       

  Shares issuable under options –   

     December 31, 2009 

  

 1,655,000   $ 18.22  

 

2.43  

 

$ 4,357  

  Options exercisable –     

     December 31, 2009   766,300   $ 18.61  

 

 1.54  

 

$ 1,728  

 
As at December 31, 2009, the range of option exercise prices was $11.74 to $33.25 per 
share.  Also as at December 31, 2009, the aggregate intrinsic value and weighted 
average remaining contractual life for in-the-money options vested and expected to vest 
were $4,357 and 2.9 years, respectively. 
 
The following table summarizes information about option exercises during year ended 
December 31, 2009, the nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 and year ended 
March 31, 2008: 

 
     Year  Nine months   Year 

     ended   ended   ended 

    December 31,  December 31,  March 31, 

     2009    2008    2008  

                 

  Number of options exercised   246,755      157,245      159,550  

                

  Aggregate fair value $ 4,070    $  2,378    $  4,885  

  Intrinsic value   1,544      1,593      3,711  

  Amount of cash received $ 2,526    $  785    $  1,174  

                 

  Tax benefit recognized $ 536    $  542    $  -  
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 As at December 31, 2009, there was $1,804 of unrecognized compensation cost related 
to non-vested awards which is expected to be recognized over the next 4 years.  During 
the year ended December 31, 2009, the fair value of options vested was $2,140 (nine-
month period ended December 31, 2008 - $682; year ended March 31, 2008 - $1,734).   
 
In October 2007, the Company received an inquiry from the Ontario Securities 
Commission related to granting of Company stock options.  A comprehensive review of 
historical stock option granting processes and the related accounting for the 13-year 
period from 1995 to 2007 was conducted by a Special Committee of the Company’s 
Board of Directors comprised of independent directors.  As a result of the review, the 
Special Committee found that the practice followed by the Company in granting stock 
options was not accounted for correctly and recommended the measurement dates of 
certain option grants be revised for accounting purposes.  As a result, $3,278 of 
incremental non-cash compensation expense was recorded in the year ended March 31, 
2008 to correct the error and exercise prices of outstanding unexercised options were 
revised.  In addition, cash payments of $1,644 were received in the year ended March 
31, 2008 on account of adjustments to exercise prices of previously exercised options 
and recorded as contributed surplus. 
 
The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, utilizing the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

 

 

Year 
 ended 

December 31,  

Nine months 
ended 

December 31,  

Year  
ended 

March 31, 
   2009   2008  2008 
 Risk-free interest rate 1.3%  2.2%  4.8% 
 Expected life in years 4.75   4.70  3.75 
 Expected volatility 38.8%  30.5%  26.4% 
 Dividend yield 0.0%  0.0%  0.0% 
       
 Weighted average fair value 

per option granted $ 4.14    $ 4.53  $ 9.31 

 
The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield of a zero-coupon US Treasury 
bond with a term equal to the option’s expected term.  The expected term represents the 
estimated period of time until exercise and is based on historical experience.  Prior to 
January 1, 2008, the expected term was calculated using the simplified method.  The 
expected volatility is based on the historical prices of the Company’s shares.  The 
dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s present intention to retain all 
earnings in respect of the Common Shares. 
 

 Subsidiary stock option plans 
The Company has stock option plans at one of its subsidiaries.  Grants under the 
subsidiary stock option plans include both equity classified awards and liability classified 
awards.  The impact of potential dilution from these plans, if any, is reflected in the 
Company’s diluted earnings per common share (note 17). 

 
 

15. Income tax 
 

Income tax differs from the amounts that would be obtained by applying the statutory rate 
to the respective years’ earnings before tax. These differences result from the following 
items: 
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Year   Nine months   Year 
 ended   ended ended 

     December 31,   December 31,   March 31, 

      2009    2008    2008  

                      

  Income tax expense using combined statutory rate               

    of 33% (December 31, 2008 - 34%;          

    March 31, 2008 - 35%) $ 10,489   $  19,062   $  24,588  

  Permanent differences  825     (1,117)    70  

 Goodwill impairment charge  9,643    -    -  

 Impact of changes in foreign exchange rates  4,718    -    -  

  Adjustments in tax liabilities for prior periods  (2,600)    (2,405)    522  

  Effects of changes in enacted tax rates  (854)    1,495     (420) 

  Changes in provisions for uncertain tax positions  1,418     2,629     1,733  

  Stock-based compensation   (37)    (645)    (1,290) 

  Foreign tax rate differential   (2,795)    (4,498)    (9,373) 
  Withholding tax  517     476     -  
  Other taxes   453     254     -  
  Losses not recognized - valuation allowance   17,289     15,627     1,278  

  Provision for income tax as reported $  39,066   $  30,878   $  17,108  

  

 
 Earnings before income tax by tax jurisdiction comprise the following: 

                   

       Year  Nine months   Year 

       ended   ended   ended 

      December 31,  December 31,   March 31, 

       2009    2008    2008  

                   

                   

  Canada $ 30,112   $  17,399   $  15,515  

  United States   5,680     18,043     32,154  

  Foreign  (4,005)    21,463     21,716  

  Total $  31,787   $  56,905   $  69,385  

                      

  The provision for income tax comprises the following: 

                   

       Year  Nine months   Year 

       ended   ended   ended 

      December 31,  December 31,   March 31, 

       2009    2008    2008  

  Current              

    Canada $ 2,244   $  3,554   $  8,839  

    United States  32,247     22,496     18,063  

    Foreign  5,160     7,989     12,743  

       39,651     34,039     39,645  

              

  Deferred         

    Canada  878     (6,553)    (10,829) 

    United States  (576)    4,596     (8,319) 

    Foreign  (887)    (1,204)    (3,389) 

       (585)    (3,161)    (22,537) 

              

  Total $ 39,066   $  30,878   $  17,108  
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  The significant components of deferred income taxes are as follows: 

              

      December 31,  December 31, 

       2009    2008  

  Deferred income tax assets         

    Loss carry-forwards $ 8,510   $  8,117  

    Expenses not currently deductible  10,706     8,641  

    Stock-based compensation  3,642     1,942  

    Provision for doubtful accounts  3,825     2,566  

    Inventory and other reserves  1,269     524  

        27,952     21,790  

           

  Deferred income tax liabilities      

    Depreciation and amortization  37,142     39,956  

    Unrealized foreign exchange gains  2,617     1,428  

    Investments  -     526  

    Prepaid and other expenses deducted       

       for tax purposes  -     132  

    Financing fees  293     105  

        40,052     42,147  

           

  Net deferred income tax liability $ (12,100)  $  (20,357) 

 
 

As at December 31, 2009, the Company had Canadian net operating loss carry-forward 
balances of approximately $18,492 (December 31, 2008 - $26,235).  These amounts are 
available to reduce future federal and provincial income taxes.  Net operating loss carry-
forward balances attributable to Canada and the United States expire over the next 20 
years.  The Company also had foreign net operating loss carry-forward balances as at 
December 31, 2009 of approximately $104,892 (December 31, 2008 - $58,633), prior to a 
valuation allowance of $96,966 (December 31, 2008 - $57,457).  Foreign capital loss 
carry-forward balances amounted to $17,732 (December 31, 2008 - $8,017) as at 
December 31, 2009 prior to a valuation allowance of $17,732 (December 31, 2008 - 
$8,017).  Additional net operating loss and capital loss carry-forward balances of $15,416 
as at December 31, 2009 (December 31, 2008 - $15,416) and $8,017 (December 31, 
2008 - $8,017) respectively relate to losses acquired in the 2004 CMN acquisition. 
 
Cumulative unremitted earnings of US and foreign subsidiaries approximated $99,486 as 
at December 31, 2009 (December 31, 2008 - $141,730). 

 
The cumulative effect of the adoption of guidance for uncertain tax positions was an 
increase in tax provisions of $3,800, including $700 of accrued interest, which was 
accounted for as a reduction to retained earnings as at April 1, 2007 of $4,200 and a 
reduction in goodwill of $400.  The liability for income tax associated with uncertain tax 
positions was $10,671 as at March 31, 2008, $12,903 as at December 31, 2008 and 
$14,390 as at December 31, 2009. 
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefit is 
as follows: 

 

  Balance, March 31, 2008  $  10,671    

  Increases based on tax positions related to the current period   2,459    

  Increases for tax positions of prior periods   603    

  Decreases for tax positions of prior periods (including lapses in       

    statutes of limitations)   (830)   

  Balance, December 31, 2008   12,903    

  Increases based on tax positions related to the current period   1,436    

  Increases for tax positions of prior periods   922    

  Decreases for tax positions of prior periods (including lapses in      

    statutes of limitations)   (871)   

           
  Balance, December 31, 2009 $  14,390    

 
Of the $14,390 (December 31, 2008 - $12,903) in gross unrecognized tax benefits, 
$8,713, (December 31, 2008 - $8,062) would affect the Company’s effective tax rate if 
recognized.  For the year ended December 31, 2009, $125 of interest and penalties 
related to provisions for income tax was recorded in income tax expense (nine-month 
period ended December 31, 2008 - $554; year ended March 31, 2008 - $77).  As at 
December 31, 2009, the Company had accrued $1,392 (December 31, 2008 - $1,331) for 
potential income tax related interest and penalties.   
 
The Company’s significant tax jurisdictions include the United States of America, Canada 
and Australia.  The number of years with open tax audits varies depending on the tax 
jurisdictions.  Generally, income tax returns filed with the Canada Revenue Agency and 
related provinces are open for three to four years and income tax returns filed with the 
U.S. Internal Revenue Service and related states are open for three to five years.  Tax 
returns in Australia are generally open for four years.   
 
Within the next twelve months, the Company believes it is reasonably possible that the 
total amount of unrecognized tax benefits associated with certain positions may be 
reduced due to lapses in statutes of limitations.  The Company estimates that the 
unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2009 could be reduced by approximately 
$7,694. 
 
The Company does not currently expect any other material impact on earnings to result 
from the resolution of matters related to open taxation years, other than noted above.  
Actual settlements may differ from the amounts accrued.  The Company has, as part of 
its analysis, made its current estimates based on facts and circumstances known to date 
and cannot predict changes in facts and circumstances that may affect its current 
estimates.  
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16. Net (loss) earnings attributable to the Company 
 
The following table sets out the (loss) earnings attributable to the Company’s common 
shareholders: 

 
 

       Year   Nine months    Year 

      ended    ended  ended

     December 31,   December 31,  March 31, 

      2009    2008    2008  

                      

  Amounts attributable to the Company:              

    Continuing operations $ (44,373)  $  36,668   $  (31,900) 

    Discontinued operations  (481)    50,529     (1,076) 

    Net (loss) earnings  (44,854)    87,197     (32,976) 

    Preferred share dividends  10,101     7,760     6,952  

    Net (loss) earnings attributable to          
       common shareholders $  (54,955)  $  79,437   $  (39,928) 

 
 

17. (Loss) earnings per common share  
 

Consistent with the applicable transition provisions, the Company presented the effect of 
the adoption of the new NCI accounting standards on earnings per common share 
prospectively, effective January 1, 2009. 
 
The following table reconciles the numerator used to calculate diluted earnings per 
common share: 

 
       Year  Nine months   Year 

       ended   ended   ended 

      December 31,  December 31,  March 31, 

       2009    2008    2008  

                   

  Net earnings from continuing operations $ (7,279)  $  11,508   $  35,474  

  Dilution of net earnings resulting from          

    assumed exercise of stock options          

    in subsidiaries  -     (530)    (1,473) 

  Preferred Share dividends  (10,101)    (7,760)    (6,952) 

  Net earnings from continuing operations          

    for diluted earnings per share          

    calculation purposes $ (17,380)  $  3,218   $  27,049  

              

  Net earnings available to common          

    shareholders $ (54,955)  $  54,276   $  27,447  

  Dilution of net earnings resulting from          

    assumed exercise of stock options in          

    subsidiaries  -     (530)    (1,473) 

  Net earnings for diluted earnings per          

    share calculation purposes $  (54,955)  $  53,746   $  25,974  
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The Preferred Shares and Convertible Debentures were anti-dilutive and thus not 
included in the denominator for diluted earnings per common share calculations. The 
following table reconciles the denominator used to calculate earnings per common share: 

 
       Year  Nine months   Year 

       ended   ended   ended 

      December 31,  December 31,  March 31, 

      2009   2008   2008  

                   

  Shares issued and outstanding at   29,333,484     30,112,587     29,922,888  

    beginning of period         

  Weighted average number of shares:         

    Issued during the period  104,091     63,469     106,139  

    Repurchased during the period  -     (592,113)    (124,371) 

              

  Weighted average number of shares          

    used in computing basic earnings          

    per share  29,437,575     29,583,943     29,904,656  

  Assumed exercise of stock options,          

    net of shares assumed acquired          

    under the Treasury Stock Method  78,580     170,739     642,310  

  Number of shares used in computing          

    diluted earnings per share   29,516,155     29,754,682     30,546,966  

 
 

18. Other supplemental information 
 
     Year  Nine months   Year 

     ended   ended   ended 

    December 31,  December 31,  March 31, 

    2009   2008   2008  

                 

  Franchisor operations              

  Revenues $  69,864   $  63,987    $  99,351  

  Operating earnings   11,492      17,308       26,199  

  Initial franchise fee revenues   5,662     3,887      5,606  

                 

  Cash payments made during the period              

  Income taxes $  33,270   $  20,628    $  45,275  

  Interest   13,470     13,907      19,268  

                   

  Non-cash financing activities              

  Increases in capital lease obligations $  1,722   $  1,403    $  4,115  

                    

  Other expenses              

  Rent expense $  48,957   $  35,546    $  46,681  
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19. Financial instruments 
 
Concentration of credit risk 
The Company is subject to credit risk with respect to its cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable and other receivables.  Concentrations of credit risk with respect to 
the receivables are limited due to the large number of entities comprising the Company’s 
customer base and their dispersion across many different service lines in various 
countries. 

 
Interest rate risk 
The Company maintains an interest rate risk management strategy that uses interest rate 
hedging contracts from time to time.  The Company’s specific goals are to: (i) manage 
interest rate sensitivity by modifying the characteristics of its debt and (ii) lower the long-
term cost of its borrowed funds.  Fluctuations in interest rates affect the fair value of the 
hedging contracts as their value depends on the prevailing market interest rate.  Hedging 
contracts are monitored on a monthly basis. 
 
The Company is party to two interest rate swap agreements to exchange the fixed rate on 
a portion of its debt to a floating rate.  On the 5.44% Senior Notes, an interest rate swap 
exchanges the fixed rate on $50,000 of principal for LIBOR (1 month compound) + 344 
basis points and another interest swap exchanges the fixed rate on $50,000 of principal 
for LIBOR (6 month in arrears) + 276 basis points.  The terms of swaps match the term of 
the 5.44% Senior Notes with a maturity of April 1, 2015.   
 
The interest rate swaps are being accounted for as fair value hedges.  The swaps are 
carried at fair value on the balance sheet, with gains or losses recognized in earnings.  
The carrying value of the hedged debt is adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to 
the hedged interest rate risk; the associated gain or loss is recognized concurrently in 
earnings.  So long as the hedge is considered highly effective, the net impact on earnings 
is nil.   
 
The following tables provide fair value information of the hedging instrument and the 
effect of the hedging instrument during the period: 

 
       December 31, 2009 

         Balance sheet  Fair 

  Derivative designated as hedging instrument  location  value 

            

         Other liabilities   

  Interest rate swaps  (non-current)  $ 1,307 
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Fair values of financial instruments 
 The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair values due to the short maturity of these 
instruments, unless otherwise indicated.  The following are estimates of the fair values for 
other financial instruments: 

 
    December 31, 2009   December 31, 2008 

  Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 

  

  

amount  value  amount  value 

                          

  Other receivables $ 6,269   $ 6,269   $  16,832   $  16,832  

  Held-to-maturity investments    -      -       6,195      6,199  

  Available-for-sale securities    -      -       2,720      2,720  

  Investment in Colliers CRE plc    14,883     14,200       -       -  

  Long-term debt   235,994    255,468      266,369      302,494  

 Convertible debentures  77,000    77,000     -     -  

 
Other receivables include notes receivable from minority shareholders and from the sale 
of former subsidiaries.  Held-to-maturity investments are included under the balance 
sheet captions “restricted cash”, “prepaid expenses and other current assets” and “other 
assets”.  Available-for-sale securities are included under the balance sheet caption “other 
assets”.  The investment in Colliers CRE plc is included under the balance sheet caption 
“other assets”. 
 
The following table provides the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value 
measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2009: 

 

       Fair value measurements at December 31, 2009 

          
    

  

Carrying value at
December 31, 2009  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

                

  Interest rate swap liability $  1,307 $   $ 1,307  $  -  

 
The fair value of the interest rate swap liability was based on a valuation done by the 
counterparty. 

 
20. Commitments and contingencies 

 
(a) Lease commitments 
Minimum operating lease payments are as follows: 

 
                
 Year ending December 31  
 2010 $ 47,992 
 2011 44,923 
 2012 36,286 
 2013 30,276 
 2014 18,751 
 Thereafter 29,186 
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(b) Contingencies 
In the normal course of operations, the Company is subject to routine claims and litigation 
incidental to its business.  Litigation currently pending or threatened against the Company 
includes disputes with former employees and commercial liability claims related to 
services provided by the Company.  The Company believes resolution of such 
proceedings, combined with amounts recorded, will not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial condition or the results of operations.  

 

21. Related party transactions 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company paid $2,556 (nine-month 
period ended December 31, 2008 - $2,640; year ended March 31, 2008 - $2,579) in rent 
to entities controlled by minority shareholders of subsidiaries.  In addition, $525 (nine-
month period ended December 31, 2008 - $2,249; year ended March 31, 2008 - $1,168) 
of service revenues were earned from entities controlled by minority shareholders of 
subsidiaries and $1,030 (nine-month period ended December 31, 2008 - $1,103; year 
ended March 31, 2008 - $493) of expenses were paid to entities controlled by minority 
shareholders of subsidiaries.  During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company 
received $1,644 of cash payments from officers and directors on account of adjustments 
to exercise prices of previously exercised options. 
 
As at December 31, 2009, the Company had $6,159 of loans receivable from minority 
shareholders (December 31, 2008 - $14,867). 

 

22. Segmented information 
 

Operating segments 
The Company has three reportable operating segments. The segments are grouped with 
reference to the types of services provided and the types of clients that use those 
services.  The Company assesses each segment’s performance based on operating 
earnings or operating earnings before depreciation and amortization.  Commercial Real 
Estate Services provides commercial property brokerage and other advisory services to 
clients in North America and in various other countries around the world.  Residential 
Property Management provides property management and related property services to 
residential communities in the United States.  Property Services operates franchise 
systems, a vendor network and Company-owned “branchise” stores with customers in 
the United States and Canada. Corporate includes the costs of operating the Company’s 
corporate head office. 

 
Included in total assets of the Commercial Real Estate Services segment at December 
31, 2009 is $17,907 (December 31, 2008 - $2,377) of investments in subsidiaries 
accounted for under the equity method.  The operating segment information excludes 
intersegment transactions. 
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Commercial   Residential           

Year ended Real Estate   Property   Property       

  December 31, 2009  Services  Management  Services  Corporate  Consolidated 

                                  

Revenues  $ 622,996   $ 645,251   $ 434,838   $ 137   $ 1,703,222  
Depreciation and amortization   25,031    11,561    9,447    344    46,383  

Operating earnings   (61,665)   49,399    62,028    (11,581)   38,181  

Other income, net               6,112  
Interest expense, net               (12,506) 
Income taxes               (39,066) 

Net earnings from continuing                 

  operations                (7,279) 
Net earnings from discontinued                 

  operations                (576) 

Net earnings               $ (7,855) 

                    

Total assets   $ 389,703   $ 350,025   $ 204,769   $ 65,033   $ 1,009,530  

Total additions to long-lived assets    15,291    24,941    13,595    438    54,265  

                                  

                 
  
 

                                

      Commercial  Residential       

Nine months ended   Real Estate  Property  Property     

  December 31, 2008  Services  Management  Services  Corporate  Consolidated 

                                  

Revenues  $ 578,192   $ 475,251   $ 269,114   $ 123   $  1,322,680  

Depreciation and amortization    17,975     7,815     5,695     261     31,746  

Operating earnings   17,442    36,436    36,278    (7,026)    83,130  

Other expense, net               (17,973) 
Interest expense, net               (8,252) 
Income taxes               (30,878) 

Net earnings from continuing                 

  operations                 26,027  
Net earnings from discontinued                 

  operations                 48,840  

Net earnings               $  74,867  

                    

Total assets   $ 404,781   $ 332,765   $ 222,485   $ 9,893   $  969,924  

Discontinued operations                 20,713  

                  990,637  

Total additions to long-lived assets     21,501     21,068     7,395     -     49,964  
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Commercial Residential       

Year ended Real Estate Property Property     

  March 31, 2008   Services   Management   Services   Corporate   Consolidated 

                                  

Revenues   $ 787,467    $ 544,926    $ 216,972    $ 348    $ 1,549,713 

Depreciation and amortization      21,219       10,450       5,654       350       37,673  

Operating earnings     21,554      39,790      32,745      (15,967)      78,122  

Other expense, net                             4,650  
Interest expense, net                             (13,387) 
Income taxes                             (17,108) 

Net earnings from continuing                                

  operations                              52,277  
Net earnings from discontinued                               

  operations                              (2,829) 

Net earnings                           $  49,448   

                                  

Total assets   $ 407,850    $ 290,692    $ 191,553    $ 48,475    $  938,570  

Discontinued operations                              150,773  

                               1,089,343  

Total additions to long-lived 
assets      79,873       64,471       53,560       364       198,268  

 
 

Geographic information 
Revenues in each geographic region are reported by customer location.  Amounts 
reported in geographic regions other than the United States, Canada and Australia are 
primarily denominated in US dollars and Euros.  

 

     Year  Nine months   Year 

     ended   ended   ended 

    December 31,  December 31,  March 31, 

    2009   2008   2008  

                 

  United States              

  Revenues $ 1,282,129    $  852,644    $  978,868  

  Total-long-lived assets  427,217       444,192       394,168  

              

  Canada           

  Revenues $  178,587    $  210,048    $  227,249  

  Total-long-lived assets  56,460       70,792       75,181  

                

  Australia           

  Revenues $ 112,369    $  97,975    $  156,812  

  Total-long-lived assets  40,341       30,658       32,629  

                 

  Other           

  Revenues $ 130,137    $  162,013    $  186,784  

  Total-long-lived assets  56,740       58,271       52,604  

              

  Consolidated           

  Revenues $  1,703,222    $  1,322,680    $  1,549,713  

  Total-long-lived assets  580,758       603,913       554,582  
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23. Transition period comparative data 
 
The following table presents certain financial information for the twelve-month periods 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively:   

 
   Twelve months  Twelve months 

     ended   ended 

    December 31,  December 31, 

    2009   2008  

          (unaudited) 

            

  Revenues $  1,703,222   $  1,691,811  

  Operating earnings  38,181    71,327  

         

  Earnings before income taxes   31,787     42,083  

  Income taxes   39,066     22,246  

  (Loss) earnings from continuing operations   (7,279)    19,837  

  Earnings from discontinued operations,       

    net of income taxes  (576)     45,297  

  Net (loss) earnings $  (7,855)  $  65,134  

         

  Net (loss) earnings per common share      

     Basic $ (1.87)   $ 1.41  

     Diluted  (1.87)    1.41  

           

  Weighted average common share outstanding     

     Basic   29,437,575      29,683,750  

     Diluted   29,516,155      29,913,500  
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The following table presents certain financial information for the nine-month periods 
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively:   

 
    Nine months  Nine months 

     ended   ended 

    December 31,  December 31, 

    2008   2007  

           (unaudited) 

            

  Revenues $  1,322,680   $  1,180,582  

  Operating earnings   83,130     89,925  

         

  Earnings before income taxes   56,905     84,206  

  Income taxes   30,878     25,740  

  Earnings from continuing operations   26,027     58,466  

  Earnings from discontinued operations,       

    net of income taxes   48,840     714  

  Net earnings $  74,867   $  59,180  

         

  Net earnings per common share      

     Basic $ 1.83   $ 1.32  

     Diluted  1.81    1.21  

           

  Weighted average common share outstanding     

     Basic   29,583,943      29,878,635  

     Diluted   29,754,682      30,417,231  

 
 
 
24. Impact of recently issued accounting standards 

 
In June 2009, the FASB issued new consolidation guidance for variable interest entities.  
The new guidance amends the consolidation guidance for variable interest entities, in 
particular: (i) to require ongoing reassessments of whether an enterprise is the primary 
beneficiary of a variable interest entity; (ii) to eliminate the quantitative approach 
previously required for determining the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity 
and (iii) to require enhanced disclosures that will provide more transparent information 
about involvement in a variable interest entity, if any.  It is possible that the application of 
the new guidance will change an enterprise’s assessment of which entities with which it is 
involved are variable interest entities.  This standard is effective as of January 1, 2010.  
The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of its adoption. 
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About FirstService

FirstService is a global diversifi ed leader in the rapidly growing real estate 
services sector, providing services in commercial real estate, residential property 
management and property services. 

Industry-leading service platforms include: Colliers International, the third 
largest global player in commercial real estate; FirstService Residential 
Management, the largest manager of residential communities in North America; 
and TFC, North America’s largest provider of property services through franchise 
and contractor networks.

FirstService generates over U.S.$1.7 billion in annualized revenues with more 
than 18,000 employees worldwide. 
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